

Governing Body

GB.283/PFA/9 283rd Session

Geneva, March 2002

Programme, Financial and Administrative Committee

PFA

NINTH ITEM ON THE AGENDA

ILO programme implementation 2000-01

Contents

	Page
Executive preface by the Director-General	iii
Introduction	1
Strategic budgeting	2
The strategic objectives	3
Strategic Objective No. 1: Promote and realize standards and fundamental principles and rights at work	4
Operational objective 1a: Standards and fundamental principles and rights at work	5
Operational objective 1b: Child labour	7
Operational objective 1c: Normative action	10
Strategic Objective No. 2: Create greater opportunities for women and men to secure decent employment and income	13
Operational objective 2a: Employment policy support	13
Operational objective 2b: Knowledge, skills and employability	15
Operational objective 2c: Reconstruction and employment-intensive investment	16
Operational objective 2d: Enterprise development	18
Operational objective 2e: Gender promotion and employment	20
Strategic Objective No. 3: Enhance the coverage and effectiveness of social protection for all	21
Operational objective 3a: International labour standards (social protection)	22
Operational objective 3b: Action against hazardous conditions	23
Operational objective 3c: Improved working and employment conditions for vulnerable groups	25

GB.283/PFA/9

Operational objective 3d: Scope of social security programmes	29
Operational objective 3e: Economic and social insecurity	31
Strategic Objective No. 4: Strengthen tripartism and social dialogue	32
Operational objective 4a: Recognition of social dialogue and	
Operational objective 4b: Institutions of social dialogue	32
Operational objective 4c: Stronger parties to social dialogue	37
Cross-sectoral programmes	48
International Training Centre (Turin Centre)	48
International Institute for Labour Studies	49
International Policy Group	49
Bureau for Gender Equality	50
Bureau of Statistics	51
External relations and partnerships	52
Communications	52
The regions	53
Africa	53
The Americas	54
Arab States	55
Asia and the Pacific	56
Europe and Central Asia	57
Development cooperation	58
Governance, support and management	59
Governance/policy-making organs	59
Management services	60
Support services	60
Appendices	63

ii

Executive preface by the Director-General

The Programme and Budget for 2000-01 was the first to be approved under the Decent Work Agenda. Its implementation is a measure of how far we have come and how much we still need to do. I am confident that the lessons we have learned as we carried out this programme, together with the feedback from our constituents as they assess our performance, will constitute a solid foundation for achieving our long-term objectives.

Meanwhile, there is much that we – both the Office and the Organization – can already look to with a sense of accomplishment. We have expanded our visibility and influence in many of the most significant global debates of our time. We made strides towards a much more integrated policy and programme agenda. We have energetically responded, within resource constraints, to the needs of working women and men and to the labour and social challenges that emerged in regions around the world. In doing this, we again demonstrated the value of tripartism and social dialogue in decision-making at all levels.

In my introduction to Volume 1 of the programme and budget for the biennium, I proposed a new approach, based on tripartite consensus on decent work and four strategic objectives. InFocus programmes were established to concentrate and integrate activities of the Office. Strategic budgeting was introduced to ensure that resources would be applied where they would achieve the most impact and in the most cost-effective ways.

This report on programme implementation indicates the extent of progress toward those goals. The list of impacts is long and substantial. The commitment to fundamental principles and rights at work is stronger and accompanied more frequently by practical action. Elimination of the worst forms of child labour has become an international priority. We have established a new global employment agenda to enhance employment opportunities. Action on HIV/AIDS has been added while the Conference has revitalized our social security priorities. Employers' organizations, workers' organizations and labour administrations have been strengthened and social dialogue has been reinforced. We have influenced multilateral policy thinking on globalization.

Even with this success, we cannot say that we have achieved everything that we had hoped. Our technical cooperation delivery was insufficient. There remain a number of cases in which our work requires greater focus, better integration and coherence, and a more judicious choice of strategies and action. This report details these problems and points to some of the lessons and responses.

The degree to which we are able to identify and rectify problems is a reflection of our increased effectiveness in the use of results-based management techniques. We still have much to do to realize the promise of strategic budgeting, but this first biennium of experience has seen important progress.

I believe that the debate on this implementation report will have important implications for our future work. We have made considerable effort to ensure that the information provided will permit our constituents to guide our objectives and improve our strategies. I welcome the opportunity to learn from the discussion of this report.

Geneva, January 2002.

Juan Somavia.

Introduction

- 1. This report on ILO programme implementation in 2000-01 meets the commitment to report annually to the Governing Body on ILO performance. It sets out the main achievements for the biennium in terms of the performance indicators and targets reported to the Programme, Financial and Administrative Committee in November 2000. It also identifies the principal difficulties and constraints that have been faced, as well as the remedial action that has been taken.
- 2. It has been agreed that this report, together with the comments of the Governing Body, will be submitted to the 90th Session of the International Labour Conference in June 2002. It thus fulfils the requirement that the Director-General report on the activities of the Organization for each financial period.³
- **3.** The report is as complete as possible given the timing of its preparation. Certain information was not yet available at the end of 2001, due in particular to the time required for closing of financial accounts. This information will be inserted into the version of the report submitted to the Conference as indicated in the tables and list of appendices.
- **4.** This is the first biennial report on programme implementation using strategic and results-based programme budgeting and accountability concepts. A brief summary of the current status of strategic budgeting in the ILO is found below.
- **5.** The report is organized according to the ILO's four strategic objectives. There is also a brief section on the ILO's cross-sectoral activities, its governance, management and support operations and on major strategic priorities in the regions.
- **6.** While the report emphasizes performance in terms of the indicators and targets established for the biennium, it also notes major outputs, meetings and technical cooperation projects that were demonstrably significant in the achievement of specific targets or in work towards indicators. Within the limits of the financial system, it provides information on allocations and expenditures by strategic objective, including for extra-budgetary resources.
- **7.** The purpose of this report is to give the Governing Body and the Conference an opportunity to exercise their governance responsibilities with respect to the ILO programme as a whole. This includes an assessment of the work accomplished and guidance on future priorities. These will be used in implementing the Programme and Budget for 2002-03 and in the preparation of the Programme and Budget proposals for 2004-05.
- **8.** There is a vast amount of information on ILO programme implementation and performance that could not be included in this report for reasons of space and practicality. Much of this information is included in more detailed reports that are submitted to the Governing Body and the Conference on specific topics and programmes. Reference is

¹ GB.276/PFA/9, paras. 157 and 158.

² GB.279/PFA/7.

³ GB.279/PFA/6, para. 6.

made to such additional information throughout this report, in particular when it is immediately available through the Internet.

Strategic budgeting

- **9.** The Programme and Budget for 2000-01 is the ILO's first strategic budget, an initial effort to apply results-based management concepts and tools. Strategic budgeting operates by establishing measurable performance objectives, focusing programmes on the achievement of these objectives through increased accountability, monitoring implementation to improve strategies and to allocate resources where they can be most effectively used, and reporting on performance for use in resource allocation and related decisions.
- 10. The Governing Body has been closely associated with the establishment of strategic budgeting. The Director-General fundamentally altered the form and content of his Programme and Budget proposals for 2000-01 in response to the Governing Body's wishes. The strategic and operational objectives that are the backbone of the strategic budget were established on the basis of wide consultations and tripartite consensus. Discussion of the Strategic Policy Framework, the ILO evaluation strategy, revised Programme and Budget for 2000-01: Performance indicators and targets, the Report on programme implementation in 2000 and the Programme and Budget proposals for 2002-03 have all provided opportunities for review and additional guidance. 4
- 11. Full implementation of strategic budgeting is a long-term process, normally taking five to ten years. The first stage in application of strategic budgeting in the ILO consisted of reaching tripartite consensus on strategic and operational objectives, establishing a first set of measurable performance indicators and related targets, restructuring the Office along the lines of the strategic objectives to provide greater focus and accountability, and acquiring initial experience in programme implementation and reporting using the new approach. That stage is now complete.
- 12. A second stage is now in progress, based on the need to deepen application of strategic budgeting in practice at unit level. This requires improved work planning, more accurate and reliable performance measurement, and greater coherence and collaboration among the headquarters sectors and the regions. A number of steps are under way, built around the Programme and Budget for 2002-03. They include:
 - establishment of a work planning database for all technical and regional units, available across the Office through the Intranet;
 - consultations between the technical sectors and regions on programme planning, initially through a joint programming workshop held in October 2001;
 - integration of regular budget and extra-budgetary resources in all programming exercises;
 - pilot exercises on formulation of unit-level objectives, indicators and targets in two InFocus programmes, to be followed in early 2002 by production of training materials and training workshops, starting with workshops in the regions;

⁴ GB.279/PFA/6 and GB.279/10/3(Corr.), paras. 67-119; GB.279/PFA/8 and GB.279/10/3(Corr.), paras. 58-66; GB.279/PFA/7 and GB.279/10/3(Corr.), paras. 4-57; GB.280/PFA/6; GB.280/PFA/7 and GB.280/11/3, paras. 1-405.

- launching of the first two evaluations of InFocus programmes, to be submitted to the Governing Body in November 2002.
- 13. In the work so far, a major constraint has been the absence of a specific budget allocation for organizational renewal. Fortunately, in mid-2001 extra-budgetary resources were made available for one year's work on strategic deepening by the Department for International Development of the Government of the United Kingdom.
- **14.** A number of lessons can be drawn at this stage, including several that come directly from the Governing Body's consideration of the programme implementation report for 2000. Among the most important are:
 - objectives stated in terms of outcomes in member States can only be achieved with the active involvement of ILO constituents. Experience suggests that informal consultation is not always sufficient. Country objectives, while sometimes useful, were not always linked to the strategic budget. A new approach, tentatively called "Decent Work Country Programmes", will therefore be established to ensure that constituents are formally and systematically involved in planning and action;
 - the application in practice of strategic budgeting requires extensive communication and training for management and staff. While there is evidence in this report of greater emphasis on the impact of ILO action, much remains to be done to establish a true performance culture;
 - work planning, and in particular planning that better integrates contributions from different headquarters sectors and the regions, is at an early stage and requires greater attention and support;
 - performance measurement and establishment of baselines and benchmarks is another area that requires greater support. This, in particular, needs to address the qualitative nature of many outcomes and difficulty in attributing responsibility for particular outcomes to the ILO;
 - the application of strategic budgeting to management and support services has not been sufficient and requires specialized and concentrated efforts;
 - the ILO's financial system does not fit easily with strategic budgeting. A special effort will be made to ensure that the enterprise resource planning (ERP) now under development will provide better data for both management and governance purposes.
- 15. The link between reported performance and the programme and budget process is an area that will receive intensive attention in the coming months. The discussion of the present report in the Governing Body will launch a new programming process. The Programme and Budget proposals for 2004-05 will for the first time have the benefit of the Governing Body and International Labour Conference discussions of the ILO's performance in programme implementation.

The strategic objectives

16. This section of the report describes progress achieved in relation to the targets set under each of the four strategic objectives of the ILO. The work of all programmes and regions is integrated in this section.

- 17. Some of that information is provided through tables that set out the targets for all indicators and the outcomes achieved. That quantitative data includes some basic information on initiatives and sites where those initiatives took place. A commentary is provided for each operational objective. These have been drafted based on the guidance that was provided at the 280th Session (March 2001) of the Governing Body as it reviewed the implementation report for 2000. ⁵
- 18. Following that guidance, the scope of the commentaries is generally restricted to a highlevel analysis of strategies and approaches. While they note some significant milestones and provide certain examples this has been included for explanatory purposes and to show regional variations. As requested by the Governing Body, the commentaries do not duplicate material in the tables. Where appropriate, they also identify other reports of the Office that provide more details on specific activities.
- 19. The commentaries offer assessments of the strategies that were used and explain the level of results achieved. They indicate the lessons learned by programmes and regions during the biennium, and particularly those that have resulted in changes in strategy or to the strategic planning and budgeting process. The commentaries show that most significant ILO outcomes are achieved through processes that extend over more than one biennium.

Strategic Objective No. 1: Promote and realize standards and fundamental principles and rights at work

Resources for standards and fundamental principles and rights at work in 2000-01 (US\$)	
Regular budget strategic resources 2000-01 (revised using 2002-03 methodology)	69 711 745
Actual regular budget expenditure 2000-01	(Available at ILC)
Estimated expenditure on technical cooperation (Programme and Budget for 2000-01)	43 086 000
Actual extra-budgetary expenditure 2000-01	(Available at ILC)

- **20.** During 2000-01, the ILO met or exceeded 71 per cent of the targets set under this strategic objective, exceeding projections in ten out of 17 targets, not meeting them in five cases. The follow-up to the Declaration on Fundamental Principles and Rights at Work became operational, and action programmes on freedom of association and the promotion of the right to collective bargaining as well as on forced labour were launched. Technical cooperation on fundamental principles and rights relating to child labour was thus complemented by significant new programmes covering other categories of these principles and rights.
- 21. Ratifications of fundamental ILO Conventions continued to increase beyond expectations, reflecting both the desire of the international community to give expression to its commitments since the 1995 Copenhagen Summit and the 1998 adoption of the Declaration and the ratification campaign conducted by the Office. Near-universal ratification of the eight fundamental Conventions is becoming a reality although some noticeable gaps are likely to remain. The progress of ratification of the Worst Forms of Child Labour Convention, 1999 (No. 182), can be called unprecedented, with the overall figure reaching 113 by the end of the biennium. Also, the ratifications of the Minimum Age Convention, 1973 (No. 138), increased to 116.

⁵ GB.280/PFA/6.

- 22. The InFocus Programme on Child Labour (IPEC) continued to attract increased donor support and improved significantly its delivery rate. It has become the biggest single technical cooperation programme of the Organization. The InFocus Programme on Promoting the Declaration exceeded its objectives in terms of technical cooperation programmes introduced, due to significant donor interest. Consequently, the strategic objective now accounts for more than half of the ILO's extra-budgetary technical cooperation.
- 23. As ratifications continue to mount, strategies on the fundamental principles and rights will increasingly emphasize implementation. Issues identified by the supervisory bodies, reports under the Declaration or requests for assistance from countries concerned will orient action. This underlines the need for close cooperation between programmes at headquarters and between headquarters and the field.
- **24.** Standards supervisory procedures have been under review, and there is agreement on a new schedule for regular reporting under article 22 of the Constitution. The aim is to reduce the workload of both governments and the Office. This will enable a better focus on related goals such as the promotion of up-to-date Conventions.
- **25.** The work on identifying needs for revision of Conventions and Recommendations has largely been concluded, leading to agreement on what is up to date in the body of normative instruments of the ILO. This has established a consensus on how the International Labour Conference will determine future standard setting and related action.

Operational objective 1a: Standards and fundamental principles and rights at work

Indicator	Target and outcome
1a.1. Member States that have ratified at least one Convention in each of the four categories of fundamental principles and rights.	Target: 122 member States. Outcome: 124 member States: the following 50 additional during the biennium (50 additional States to have ratified at least one Convention in each of the four categories) –
	Angola, Austria, Bahamas, Bangladesh, Barbados, Belize, Benin, Brazil, Burundi, Cameroon, Canada, Cape Verde, Central African Republic, Chad, Colombia, Czech Republic, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ecuador, Equatorial Guinea, Eritrea, Estonia, Gabon, Gambia, Ghana, Japan, Kazakhstan, Kenya, Republic of Korea, Lebanon, Lesotho, Madagascar, Mali, Mauritania, Mexico, Morocco, Namibia, Pakistan, Panama, Papua New Guinea, Paraguay, Saint Kitts and Nevis, Saint Lucia, Saint Vincent and the Grenadines, South Africa, Sri Lanka, Syrian Arab Republic, United Kingdom, Yemen, Yugoslavia and Zimbabwe.
	In addition, the following 8 States have during the biennium joined the group of countries which have ratified at least one Convention in three of the four categories, making 157 countries in all:
	Bahrain, Mongolia, New Zealand, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, Singapore, Thailand and Uganda. A total of 108 States have ratified one or more fundamental Conventions during the biennium.

Indicator	Target and outcome
1a.2. Member States in which there are positive changes, as noted in the Expert-Advisers' Introduction to the 2001 Compilation of annual reports on the Declaration.	Target: 10 member States. Outcome: Governments' reports mention various policy innovations, legislative changes and institutional improvements made in recent years. These are recorded in the Compilation of annual reports. The Expert-Advisers' Introduction contains a number of references to them. However, the Expert-Advisers do not feel that there is sufficient information available to measure progress in particular countries and for them to comment on developments.
1a.3. Member States that have begun implementation of gender-sensitive technical cooperation that specifically addresses needs or problems identified in reports submitted under the Declaration, the Introduction by the Expert-Advisers or plans of action adopted by the Governing Body.	Target: 10 member States. Outcome: 29 member States. Antigua and Barbuda, Bahamas, Bangladesh, Barbados, Belize, Benin, Bolivia, Bulgaria, Burkina Faso, Cambodia, Dominica, Grenada, Guyana, India, Indonesia, Jamaica, Kenya, Mali, Nepal, Nigeria, Romania, Saint Kitts and Nevis, Saint Lucia, Saint Vincent and the Grenadines, Suriname, United Republic of Tanzania, Trinidad and Tobago, Uganda and Ukraine.

- **26.** Work has increasingly been focused on issues beyond ratification. One issue is dealing with requests by member States for assistance in implementing the Conventions once ratified. Such an approach was followed, for instance, with Cambodia, Indonesia and a number of other countries where ratification of fundamental Conventions was explicitly followed up by assistance programmes. As such assistance takes various multidisciplinary forms such as awareness raising, legislative advice, strengthening of institutions and training of personnel greater cooperation between headquarters and the field as well as various units within the sector of standards and fundamental principles and rights at work and other sectors has been called for.
- 27. Another issue has been support for follow-up procedures. The framework for this has been considerably strengthened by the three-part follow-up process of the Declaration on Fundamental Principles and Rights at Work: annual reports on situations where fundamental Conventions have not been ratified; a global report each year on one of the categories of these principles and rights; and, based on this, an action plan for technical cooperation. In the biennium 2000-01, the Governing Body approved the first ever technical cooperation action plans on both freedom of association and the right to collective bargaining (2000) and forced labour (2001). Implementation of both plans has started.

More details on the work of the InFocus Programme on Promoting the Declaration are available at:

http://www.ilo.org/public/english/standards/decl/

28. Action on forced labour has attracted much interest because it covers the increasingly topical issue of trafficking in human beings. Activities to strengthen freedom of association rights are being carried out in over 35 countries. Follow-up procedures have in general raised awareness of shortcomings and the need for action. An example of positive developments is the agreement signed between the Office and the Gulf Cooperation Council, leading among other things into activities for the promotion of freedom of association in Bahrain, Qatar, Saudi Arabia and the United Arab Emirates. Some countries have not reported positive changes, and a handful have not yet been persuaded to participate in the process.

- 29. The reporting processes have also helped to identify other opportunities for assistance and technical cooperation, including action which ensures attention to gender considerations. It has to be noted, however, that requests for assistance exceed the resources currently available through either the regular budget or extra-budgetary funds. In addition, many requests are primarily for legislative advice whereas the comprehensive Declaration programmes aim at broader action, including advocacy, to favour the environment for respecting and realizing the fundamental principles and rights at work. This means that they call for a more resource-intensive approach than legislative advice alone although, naturally, such advice has to be part of a comprehensive approach.
- **30.** In 2000, the follow-up led to national or subregional projects in eastern and western Africa, South and South-East Asia, Central America and the Caribbean, concentrating on freedom of association, collective bargaining and institutional improvement for industrial relations. In 2001, further projects were initiated in southern and northern Africa, Arab States, eastern and South Asia, and countries in transition (Ukraine). These programmes will demonstrate outcomes in the coming biennium.

Benin: From commitment to fulfilment

Benin has ratified eight core Conventions and has taken an active role in following up by reporting on their application to the Committee of Experts. This led to an exercise supported by the Office and the Government of France to analyse the obstacles to full implementation of the core Conventions in the country. A tripartite process led to a plan of action that included legal reforms and new policies. The expectation is that this will also lead to greater public awareness of the fundamental principles and rights at work, capacity building for employers' and workers' organizations and in labour administration. Similar processes have begun in Burkina Faso and Niger.

31. The action plan for the elimination of all forms of forced and compulsory labour, approved by the Governing Body in November 2001, also signified the setting up of a Special Action Programme to Combat Forced Labour. In line with the overall approach on the promotion of fundamental principles and right at work, this programme will have knowledge, advocacy, and technical cooperation components. Two sizeable projects have already been launched, in Brazil and Nepal, with others to follow in some African and South Asian member States.

Operational objective 1b: Child labour

Indicator	Target and outcome
1b.1. Members States that ratify:	
(i) the Minimum Age Convention, 1973 (No. 138);	Target: 20 additional member States. Outcome: 32 ratifications during the biennium:
	Angola, Austria, Bahamas, Barbados, Belize, Benin, Brazil, Burundi, Cameroon, Central African Republic, Colombia, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ecuador, Eritrea, Gambia, Japan, Kazakhstan, Lesotho, Madagascar, Mauritania, Morocco, Namibia, Panama, Papua New Guinea, Seychelles, South Africa, Sri Lanka, Syrian Arab Republic, United Kingdom, Yemen, Yugoslavia and Zimbabwe.

Indicator	Target and outcome
(ii) the Worst Forms of Child Labour Convention, 1999 (No. 182).	Target: 87 member States. Outcome: 114. Ratifications during the biennium (108): Albania, Algeria, Angola, Argentina, Austria, Bahamas, Bahrain, Bangladesh, Barbados, Belarus, Belize, Benin, Bosnia and Herzegovina, Botswana, Brazil, Bulgaria, Burkina Faso, Canada, Cape Verde, Central African Republic, Chad, Chile, Costa Rica, Croatia, Cyprus, Czech Republic, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Denmark, Dominica, Dominican Republic, Ecuador, El Salvador, Equatorial Guinea, Estonia, Finland, France, Gabon, Gambia, Ghana, Greece, Guatemala, Guyana, Honduras, Hungary, Iceland, Indonesia, Iraq, Italy, Japan, Jordan, Kenya, Republic of Korea, Kuwait, Lebanon, Lesotho, Libyan Arab Jamahiriya, Luxembourg, Madagascar, Malaysia, Mali, Malta, Mauritania, Mauritius, Mexico, Mongolia, Morocco, Namibia, New Zealand, Nicaragua, Niger, Norway, Oman, Pakistan, Panama, Papua New Guinea, Paraguay, Philippines, Portugal, Qatar, Romania, Rwanda Saint Kitts and Nevis, Saint Lucia, Saint Vincent and the Grenadines, San Marino, Saudi Arabia, Senegal, Singapore, Slovenia, South Africa, Spain, Sri Lanka, Sweden, Switzerland, United Republic of Tanzania, Thailand, Togo, Tunisia, Turkey, Uganda, Ukraine, United Arab Emirates, United Kingdom, Uruguay Viet Nam, Yemen, Zambia and Zimbabwe.
1b.2. Member States that carry out national quantitative and qualitative studies on the extent of child labour.	Target: 30 additional member States. Outcome: 37 member States and 1 other entity. Argentina, Bangladesh, Belize, Bolivia, Brazil, Cambodia, Chile, Colombia, Dominican Republic, Ecuador, El Salvador, Estonia, Ethiopia, Georgia, Ghana, Guatemala, Honduras, Jamaica, Kenya, Lebanon, Malawi, Namibia, Nepal, Nicaragua, Nigeria, Panama, Philippines, Romania, South Africa, Sri Lanka, United Republic of Tanzania, Thailand, Turkey, Uganda, Ukraine, Zambia and Zimbabwe (as well as territories under the Palestinian Authority).
1b.3. Member States that formulate policies and programmes specifying time-bound targets for the elimination of the worst forms of child labour, taking into account the special situation of the girl child.	Target: 12 additional member States. Outcome: 3 member States. El Salvador, Nepal and United Republic of Tanzania.
1b.4. ILO extra-budgetary technical cooperation expenditure supporting the elimination of child labour.	Target: \$44 million. Outcome: \$53 million.
1b.5. Children who directly benefit from ILO action (through either preventive measures or rehabilitation), in particular in regard to the worst forms of child labour, and the girl child.	Target: 260,000 children. Outcome: 311,000 cases of service provided to children.

32. The success that was accomplished across this operational objective reflected the deep interest in child labour that initially helped lead to the adoption of the Convention. Campaigning efforts took place in a very receptive context. That was indicated by the rate of ratifications in all regions and the growth of interest among developing and donor countries that exceeded the already ambitious expectations reflected in the performance indicators under this operational objective.

A much more exhaustive analysis of actions under this operational objective can be found in "Action against child labour 2000-01: Progress and future priorities":

http://www.ilo.org/public/english/standards/ipec/about/implementation/ipecreport.pdf

- 33. Of the five performance indicators under this operational objective, targets were exceeded for ratification numbers, studies and delivery. The target for policies and programmes specifying time-bound targets for the elimination of the worst forms of child labour was not fully met, despite substantial progress. The constraints on full achievement of the target included more intensive preparatory work than expected and the difficulty of gaining member State commitment to move towards individual programmes without firm and long-term financial undertakings to support that commitment.
- **34.** The programme and budget defined the target for beneficiaries in terms of specific numbers of children. However, to better reflect the differences in the kinds of actions that are necessary to reduce the numbers of children in the worst forms of child labour, the identification of results was done by tracking the services provided to children.
- **35.** This choice of targets reflected more general management attention to how best to demonstrate impacts. For example, work took place to show that children who were removed from child labour did not simply move to other, often more dangerous and difficult to identify, areas. This led to the testing of different child labour monitoring systems to identify and follow the number of beneficiaries reached. Experience with these systems will be used to develop guidelines and models to make future tracking systems more cost-effective and sustainable.

Trade unions and government working together in Turkey

A six-month campaign helped move 2,000 Turkish children from hazardous work to the classroom. The programme is a joint effort of three trade unions in Turkey that overcame political differences to cooperate with each other and with the Ministry of National Education. It was implemented as part of the larger IPEC country programme for Turkey.

After initial planning and the identification of vulnerable working street children under the age of 15, trade union members and volunteers contacted the children's parents. The partners stressed the hazards of child labour, the importance of education and the opportunities available. A monitoring mechanism and educational support programme was started by the Ministry to ensure the educational success of the children.

- **36.** The programme's structure has been adjusted to enable child labour to be mainstreamed in the Office's work. This will be reinforced in 2002-03 with the creation of five new multidisciplinary team (MDT) posts.
- **37.** Key achievements under this operational objective can be summarized in four major categories:
 - Ratification of key Conventions on child labour The rapid pace of ratifications was the result of a strategy with two elements in practice. One was the use of the first dedicated campaign team that the Office had ever created to support a ratification campaign. The work of this team included the development of a wide range of communications strategies and products and their use around the world. As the bulk of ratifications were achieved, communications began to emphasize implementation. The second element was support for technical cooperation. This created a climate in which member States recognized that their commitments to ratify the Conventions would be followed up by support for action. Both elements involved the work of many units in the field and headquarters which, along with the degree of donor interest and the attention to time-bound programmes and the mainstreaming of the

child labour issue, also helped place child labour on many national development agendas.

■ Improved delivery – In order to meet the challenge of rapid growth, IPEC scaled up its programme activities, accelerated the decentralization process to ensure stronger links to the field and introduced various measures to improve delivery. This fitted with efforts to improve quality, to achieve economies of scale and to strengthen financial controls, monitoring and evaluation. The ratio of delivery to allocations also increased significantly, from 30 per cent in 1999 to 54 per cent in 2000, and 60 per cent projected for 2001.

In the external audit report on IPEC in 1999, it was noted that the average value of activities had been less than US\$50,000, an unsustainably small level to manage. During 2000-01, donors provided funding for more than 50 large-scale projects, increasing the level of new approvals from a total of some US\$63 million during the 1998-99 biennium to over US\$100 million in 2000-01.

- Expansion of the knowledge base Policy research, data collection and analysis and evaluation methodology were recognized as vital for the effectiveness of technical cooperation and enhanced national capacities to deal with child labour. These functions were enlarged considerably during 2000-01. The problem of inadequate knowledge bases was successfully addressed with the completion of many SIMPOC studies and the launch of others. This work improved the ongoing policy dialogue on the nature, causes and remedies of child labour. It also raised the ILO public profile as a source of reliable information and supported practical implementation efforts.
- Enhanced cooperation on child labour issues Work under all strategic objectives can help to contribute to the elimination of the worst forms of child labour. Enhanced cooperation between IPEC and other ILO units and programmes during 2000-01 helped to reinforce this common mission. As well, the Office forged stronger links with other agencies through the global research project on "Understanding Children's Work", carried out jointly with UNICEF and the World Bank, and also specifically in the countries with time-bound programmes. For example, this helped to build links to work on poverty-related issues supported by the World Bank. Considerable emphasis was placed on promoting the coverage of child labour issues in the World Bank-supported poverty reduction strategy papers that are discussed in other sections of this report.

Operational objective 1c: Normative action

Indicator	Target and outcome
1c.1.	
(i) reports processed for the Committee of Experts;	Target: 90 per cent of reports received. Outcome: 68.2 per cent in 2000, 70.1 per cent in 2001.
(ii) complaints examined by the Committee on Freedom of Association.	Target: First examination by CFA within 12 months. Outcome: 11 months (average).
1c.2. Effective support to governments in the reporting process as indicated by rate of response from governments for each supervisory body session.	Target: 70 per cent for each session of the Committee of Experts. Outcome: 70.5 per cent in 2000, 65.4 per cent in 2001.

Indicator	Target and outcome
1c.3. Progress in the implementation of the principles and rights as shown in improvements in the application of the fundamental Conventions noted in the biennium by the Committee of Experts	
(i) with satisfaction;	Target: 20 cases. Outcome: 19 cases in 2000, 17 cases in 2001.
(ii) with interest.	Target: 40 cases. Outcome: 64 cases in 2000, 52 cases in 2001.
1c.4. Cases of progress in implementation of Conventions other than fundamental Conventions noted in the biennium by the Committee of Experts	
(i) with satisfaction;	Target: 40 cases. Outcome: 27 cases in 2000, 10 cases in 2001.
(ii) with interest.	Target: 200 cases. Outcome: 95 cases in 2000, 85 cases in 2001.
1c.5. Services provided to enable the Governing Body to adopt a timetable for a review of standard-setting policy.	Target: By November 2001. Outcome: A general discussion based on the integrated approach on ILO standard-related activities in the area of occupational safety placed on the agenda of the 2003 Conference. Proposals for general discussions based on an integrated approach to standards-related activities in several subject areas selected for a closer examination for the agenda of the 2004 Conference. Adoption of proposals on improvements in the standards-related reporting mechanisms. The Working Party on Policy regarding the Revision of Standards has essentially completed its work, which will constitute a basis for the work related to the integrated approach.

- **38.** The performance indicators under this operational objective are linked to the functioning of the regular and special supervisory procedures. In addition, the International Labour Standards Department has been servicing the discussion and decisions in the Governing Body on possible improvements in standards-related activities of the Organization. In particular, this has led into a new consensus on the way in which the International Labour Conference is to define future standard-setting needs as well as other related ways to achieve the constitutional objectives of the Organization.
- 39. This consensus has implied the adoption of an integrated approach to the standards-related activities of the ILO which will for the first time be applied at the 91st Session of the International Labour Conference in 2003 through a general discussion on occupational safety and health. The preparation of an in-depth study has been carried out between the Social Protection Sector and the International Labour Standards Department. Preliminary work has been carried out for other items for such general discussions which will, among other things, permit decisions on future normative action. All of them imply close cooperation between the department and other sectors and units of the Organization.

- **40.** In 2000, 68.2 per cent of the reports were processed by the Committee of Experts. In 2001, the corresponding figure was 70.1 per cent. One reason for the shortfall in processing reports is their late arrival. In 2001, not more than 26 per cent (604 in all) of the reports due were received by the deadline of 1 September, compared with 29 per cent in 2000. Attempts are made to deal with late reports, as otherwise there would be an automatic delay in dealing with often very important issues.
- **41.** In addition, the significant rise in the ratification of fundamental and priority Conventions, on which reports are due every second year, has increased the workload. This trend will continue in the years to come, as large numbers of detailed first reports come in on the Worst Forms of Child Labour Convention, 1999 (No. 182), and other recently ratified fundamental Conventions.
- **42.** In order to improve efficiency by facilitating both the preparation and the processing of article 22 reports, there is agreement in principle in the Governing Body that the instruments will be rearranged by subject matter. Also, there will be fewer automatic requests for detailed reports beyond the first one.
- **43.** An in-depth study on the management and organization of work of the department was carried out in 2001, and work has started on implementing its findings through a participatory process involving the whole department. More efficient preparation by the Office of the reports for the Committee of Experts and improvements in the servicing of the supervisory bodies, especially the Conference Committee on the Application of Standards, are particularly important issues.
- **44.** Beyond the agreed improvements in reporting arrangements, the Governing Body and the supervisory bodies themselves have not yet reached conclusions on the work methods of these bodies and on possible improvements in the special procedures. This work will continue in the new biennium.

Addressing standards concerns in Guatemala

An ILO mission to Guatemala in April 2001 centred on issues that had been raised by the supervisory bodies and the Committee on Freedom of Association. These included acts of violence experienced by trade union officials and members, anti-union dismissals, judicial delays, gaps between Guatemalan laws and practices and the State's Conventions obligations and the refusal by some enterprises to bargain collectively.

The mission led to two important legislative reforms. While the mission was still in the country a Legislative Decree addressed some major concerns. For example, it eliminated previous powers of the executive authorities to supervise trade union activity and amended provisions that appeared to unduly restrict the right to strike. A second Legislative Decree was adopted soon after the mission. It strengthened the obligation to reinstate workers dismissed for anti-union reasons and reinforced sanctions in cases of Labour Code contraventions.

Among its other results, the mission was able to note that the Human Rights Procurator had requested protection for trade unionists concerned about threats of violence and that some trade unionists had been reinstated in their jobs after dismissal for trade union activity.

Strategic Objective No. 2: Create greater opportunities for women and men to secure decent employment and income

Resources for employment in 2000-01 (US\$)	
Regular budget strategic resources 2000-01 (revised using 2002-03 methodology)	130 005 263
Actual regular budget expenditure 2000-01	(Available at ILC)
Estimated expenditure on technical cooperation (Programme and Budget for 2000-01)	133 826 000
Actual extra-budgetary expenditure 2000-01	(Available at ILC)

- **45.** During the biennium the Office exceeded seven of the eight targets set under this strategic objective and met one. This was due in part to greater field activity and increased cooperation between sectors and with the Turin Centre. It was also the result of substantial extra-budgetary contributions that became available for two programmes early in the biennium. Despite that, the overall level of technical cooperation funding was below expectations, largely because of the continuing decline in UNDP resources. The delivery rate for the allocations that were available also fell, though it began to rise in the latter part of the biennium, as did new approvals, particularly for the programmes on small enterprise development, employment-intensive investment and crisis response. It is expected that the ILO Global Agenda for Employment will attract new technical cooperation approvals in the 2002-03 biennium. There will also be an emphasis on new products and approaches, in particular in the framework of poverty reduction. The delivery rate will continue to be subject to detailed monitoring and remedial action.
- **46.** Experience during the biennium showed that some of the operational objectives needed fine-tuning to achieve further integration and cooperation among different programmes. This has resulted in a reduction from five operational objectives in 2000-01 to three in 2002-03 covering employment policy support, skills development and employment creation.

Operational objective 2a: Employment policy support

Indicator	Target and outcome
2a.1. Global and national employment	Target: Policies in 12 member States.
and human resources policies that are	Outcome: 13 member States.
influenced by recommendations in ILO	China: Integrated programme approach to employment promotion.
policy advice.	Denmark: Strengthening of social dialogue on employment policies.
	Kazakhstan: Employment Act redrafted.
	Mali, Mauritania, Senegal and Ukraine: National employment programmes introduced.
	Mongolia: Tripartite employment conference endorsed employment strategy for decent work.
	Nepal: ILO assisted PRSP on employment and labour market implications of sectoral strategies.
	Pakistan: Government announced moves towards strengthening social dialogue on employment policies.
	Panama: ILO supported tripartite meetings shaping a broader social dialogue on training.
	Sri Lanka : Tripartite consensus on labour market policies was developed.
	Thailand: Improved labour force survey.

47. The ILO continued to provide employment policy advice and support to member States throughout the biennium as noted in the tables above, and at levels that exceeded targets. However, the major achievement was the development of a draft Global Employment Agenda to provide a coherent framework for future advice (see box). This framework will be adapted and applied in light of national conditions and institutions.

Global Employment Forum sets direction for future policies

The November 2001 Global Employment Forum and its approval of a draft Global Employment Agenda represented milestones for the ILO. They set a clear direction for the kind of employment policy strategies that the ILO will support and work with others to help implement.

The Forum brought together 750 participants from over 110 countries. The interest in designing and implementing more effective and comprehensive employment policies helped to attract senior government policy-makers, including 40 ministers as well as many high-level representatives of employers' and workers' organizations, intergovernmental organizations, NGOs, academia, the private sector and the media. The significance of the Forum was underlined by keynote presentations by the Secretary-General of the United Nations, the Prime Ministers of Denmark and Finland, the Secretary-General of UNCTAD, the United Nations High Commissioner for Human Rights, the President of the IOE, the General Secretary of the ICFTU, as well as senior representatives of the European Union, the World Bank and the IMF.

The draft Global Employment Agenda states that employment should be an overarching goal of economic policy and that sound policies should integrate macroeconomic, development and labour market policies. The Forum reached agreement that the following points are the basis of successful employment strategies:

- trade as an engine of employment growth, particularly by opening markets in industrialized countries to agricultural and other labour-intensive products from developing countries;
- turning the risk of a digital divide into an international digital opportunity by helping developing countries develop the infrastructure and processes to participate fully in the digital economy;
- promoting environmentally sustainable development in agriculture, energy and transport to tap the job opportunities this creates;
- monetary and fiscal policy stimuli and a stronger coordination of macroeconomic policies to counteract the short-term risks of recession:
- enhanced public spending on education, health and social development in developing and transition countries, using national poverty reduction strategy paper (PRSP) resources and proceeds from the acceleration of debt relief and an increase in official development assistance;
- improved educational levels and training opportunities through greater investment in skills development;
- investment in health and safety at work to improve productivity;
- improved employability and adaptability of the labour force through active labour market policies, including the fight against all forms of discrimination and targeted programmes for the working poor, particularly in the informal economy;
- social safety nets to help people adjust to change;
- social dialogue and respect for core labour standards as the underpinning for effective policies.

The Forum called upon the ILO to promote action at the international, national and local levels accordingly and to build global alliances for employment in close cooperation with other United Nations agencies and the Bretton Woods institutions.

More information on the Global Employment Forum and the draft Global Employment Agenda is available at www.ilo.org/public/english/employment/geforum/index.htm.

48. The release of the *World Employment Report 2001: Life at work in the information economy* benefited member States where many drew on its information and analysis for designing employment policy. It also was the focus of national and subregional seminars to follow up on its findings. To enable this report to reach more people, the hard copy publication was supplemented by CD-ROM and tabloid versions.

49. To respond to the need for good labour market indicators, the ILO continued to provide assistance in setting up national Labour Market Indicator Libraries. The online database on Key Indicators of the Labour Market was also continuously updated to complement the biennial publication. As noted throughout this report, the preparation of national poverty reduction strategy papers (PRSPs) took on growing significance through the biennium. These have guided World Bank and IMF lending programmes and have become a framework for national development policies and programmes. Governments, the World Bank and the IMF increasingly invited the Office to contribute to individual PRSP programmes showing growing agreement with ILO perspectives on the link between employment strategies based on the principles of decent work and poverty reduction.

Pakistan adopts ILO advice on employment policy

In 1999-2000 the ILO conducted a comprehensive employment policy review (CEPR) in Pakistan with the full participation of government agencies, employers and workers. Its report was discussed at a national conference in May 2000, at which the President was the keynote speaker. A tripartite consensus was reached on the report's policy recommendations. This led to a request that the ILO draft a national employment strategy paper as a key input to Pakistan's Poverty Reduction Strategy. Consistent with the ILO recommendations for a labour-based approach to employment creation with emphasis on low-cost housing, in 2001 the Government initiated a national employment strategy designed to create 2 million additional jobs. The Government and the United Nations system have since then invited the ILO to play a major role in the implementation of the Poverty Reduction Strategy for Pakistan.

50. Implementation of the *Jobs for Africa* programme proceeded according to plan and is discussed in more detail under the African regional commentary later in this report. Increased donor support and a special RBTC allocation enabled this programme to promote employment through an integrated approach based on employment-intensive investment. In a number of countries in Africa the programme was able to influence the PRSP process, ensuring greater attention to employment issues. Initial work took place towards similar integrated approaches to employment promotion in China and India.

Operational objective 2b: Knowledge, skills and employability

Indicator

2b.1. ILO constituents that adopt strategies to improve the quality, equity and effectiveness of human resources development and training and to increase investment in skills, knowledge and employability.

Target and outcome

Target: ILO constituents in 8 member States.

Outcome: 22 member States.

Australia, Indonesia, Republic of Korea, Malaysia, Nepal, Pakistan, Philippines and Thailand: Developed industry-based competency standards.

Bahrain: ILO publication on public employment service reform used for planning national employment service reforms.

Brazil: Tripartite agreement on vocational training principles.

Central African Republic, Chad, Congo and Democratic Republic of the Congo: National action plans on human resource development were adopted.

Indonesia, Philippines and **Thailand**: National networks of homeworkers trained their members.

Iraq, **Jordan** and **Syrian Arab Republic**: Adopted the community-based rehabilitation (CBR) strategy for the generation of employment for vulnerable groups.

Mauritius: ILO report recommending a new training strategy approved by the Council of Ministers and task force created to oversee implementation of the strategy.

Mauritius: IT training for disabled launched by employers.

Indicator	Target and outcome
	Morocco and Tunisia: Adopted vocational rehabilitation policies.
	Poland and Ukraine : Modular training was sustained and replicated by national institutions.
	Ukraine: Reform of training system and implementation of competency-based skills assessment and training.
2b.2. Approvals and delivery of extra- budgetary technical cooperation on	Target: \$3 million in new approvals; expenditure reaches 60 per cent of allocations in 2001.
training and human resource development.	Outcome: New approvals for 2000-01: \$3,484,000.
αενειομπετιι.	Delivery rate in 2001: 61 per cent.

- **51.** As the table above indicates, the *InFocus Programme on Skills, Knowledge and Employability* supported training and employability strategies in many member States. Beyond traditional ILO activities in this field, a number of actions took place to address specific priorities. To examine declining donor support for technical cooperation, a task force analysed the situation and recommended improvements in the promotion, design and management of extra-budgetary technical cooperation projects. More effective skill-development materials such as the modules of employable skills (MES) and community-based training (CBT) were updated.
- **52.** To improve the reach of ILO activities, the Office played an active role in the Youth Employment Network, a joint UN-World Bank-ILO initiative. Other links on skills issues were established with the World Bank, UNESCO, the World Association of Public Employment Services, the International Confederation of Temporary Work Businesses and the International Federation of Training and Development Organizations.

Operational objective 2c: Reconstruction and employment-intensive investment

Indicator	Target and outcome
2c.1. ILO constituents implement technical cooperation or take other concrete steps to promote employment in post-crisis countries.	Target: ILO constituents in 5 member States. Outcome: 10 member States. Democratic Republic of the Congo, El Salvador, Ethiopia, India, Lebanon, Mozambique, Peru, Sierra Leone, Solomon Islands and Somalia, as well as East Timor and Palestine.
2c.2. ILO constituents that apply the ILO approach to employment-intensive investment.	Target: Substantive achievements in additional programme components in 10 member States. Outcome: 20 member States. Bolivia, Ghana, Lao People's Democratic Republic, Lesotho, Madagascar, Mozambique, Namibia, Nicaragua, Peru, Philippines, Senegal, South Africa, United Republic of Tanzania, Togo, Uganda and Zambia: Established EIIP policies resulted in a reorientation of investments by government, donor and development banks towards employment creation.
	Botswana, Cambodia, Eritrea, Kenya, Lesotho and Madagascar: National governments adopted employment-intensive investment policies (EIIP). Namibia: Policies adopted through national legislation. Uganda: Employment and Investment Policy Unit has been established and is operational.

- **53.** The strategy to achieve this operational objective focused on building the ILO's capacity to respond to crises and on promoting the ILO's approach to employment creation through investment in employment-intensive infrastructure. As the tables indicate, achievements were well above projected levels.
- **54.** The creation of the *InFocus Programme on Crisis Response and Reconstruction* coincided with the emergence of many crisis situations where the ILO could play a productive role. A special rapid action RBTC allocation approved by the Director-General helped to address needs in Africa, Asia and the Pacific, the Arab States and Latin America. ILO participation ensured that employment promotion became an important element of comprehensive crisis response programmes. To increase its impact, the Office established partnerships with other agencies and non-UN networks.

Building jobs and roads in Madagascar

Donor support from NORAID through the ILO assisted Madagascar to pilot-test the use of labour-based approaches to building public infrastructure. The programme promoted private sector execution of public works, based on well-trained local contractors, and improvements that make it easier for small and medium-sized enterprises to bid on public projects such as rural access road building.

The pilot phase showed that labour-based techniques have major benefits over conventional equipment-intensive construction technology. They are at least 30 per cent cheaper, save some 30 per cent of foreign exchange requirements and create about three to five times more employment per unit of investment – all without compromises on quality.

These results helped lead to a 2001-04 phase for the project, in which the Government, the World Bank and other financial partners shifted \$50 million, or half of roads investment, to rural roads programmes with a labour-based technology. This will generate the equivalent of 16,000 full-time jobs per year over a five-year period, instead of the 4,000 jobs that would have been created had equipment-based techniques been used. The Government has agreed to establish an autonomous training centre for labour-based works that will become financially self-sufficient by charging major infrastructure investment programmes for its services. Small contractors will also be trained in decent work issues such as conditions of recruitment, payment and worker safety.

- 55. The ILO approach to *employment-intensive investment* continued to promote decent work in infrastructure construction by addressing the needs of workers and employers, particularly small contractors. During the biennium, the approach was refined to integrate employment-generation objectives with other elements of the Decent Work Agenda such as tripartite partnerships, fundamental rights, decent working conditions and gender concerns. Much of this effort centred on support to labour-based contractors and local communities to ensure cost-effective and high-quality implementation of works.
- **56.** Influencing the PRSP process described elsewhere under this strategic objective and in other parts of this report became a priority under this operational objective. The Office worked with other United Nations agencies and the World Bank to get consensus that employment should be the key element of large PRSP-linked infrastructure investment programmes. An agreement on this was finalized in March 2001 and the Office began to shift its emphasis to projects in which political and financial authority has been decentralized and in which long-term financial commitments are possible.

Operational objective 2d: Enterprise development

Indicator

2d.1. Institutions that apply ILO policy and practical tools in the area of microand small enterprise development.

Target and outcome

Target: 45 institutions in 25 member States. **Outcome:** 98 institutions in 38 member States.

Bahrain, Benin, Burkina Faso, China, Côte d'Ivoire, Egypt, Guinea, Jordan, Lebanon, Mali, Mauritania, Niger, Senegal, Sri Lanka, Togo, and Turkey: Institutions (often more than one in each country) began use of "Start Your Own Business".

Bangladesh, Cambodia, China, Indonesia, Nepal, Papua New Guinea, Philippines, Sri Lanka, Thailand and Viet Nam: Employers' associations actively involved in women's enterprise development.

Bangladesh, Gambia, Ghana, Lesotho, Madagascar, Mali, Nigeria, Russian Federation, Swaziland and Uganda: New cooperative development policies or laws adopted; tools for policy and lawmakers published in seven languages.

Benin, Burkina Faso, Côte d'Ivoire, Guinea, Mali, Mauritania and Senegal: Employers' associations actively involved in small business promotion.

China: Resource centre for associations of women entrepreneurs at the Chinese national employers' organizations established.

Fiji: Small and micro-enterprise framework approved by Cabinet.

Gambia, Guinea, Mauritania, Pakistan, Senegal and **Viet Nam:** Action started to improve policy and regulatory environment for small and microenterprises.

Ghana: Social marketing campaign on improving working conditions in small enterprises.

Ghana, Thailand and **Uganda:** Commercial radio or TV stations launched programming targeting small businesses to improve information-sharing, market access and policy advocacy.

India: Local institutions and employers' organizations collaborated in upgrading working conditions in household-based enterprises (Moradabad).

Philippines: New National Commission on Indigenous and Tribal Peoples includes employment development mandate.

South Africa: Local economic development strategies articulated in two rural towns.

Sri Lanka, Viet Nam and **Zimbabwe**: Training provided by local institutions on linking working conditions, product quality and productivity in small businesses.

United Republic of Tanzania: Local governments applying ILO recommendations on use of small enterprises to deliver public services.

Thailand: Government included ILO policy recommendations in its master plan for small enterprise promotion.

2d.2. Institutions that apply ILO policy and practical tools on productivity and management development.

Target: 20 institutions in 10 member States.

Outcome: 24 institutions in 10 member States.

Productivity institutions and employers' and workers' organizations in **Botswana** (1 institution), **Guyana** (3 institutions), **Kenya** (3 institutions), **Mauritius** (2 institutions), **Seychelles** (1 institution) and **Slovakia** (1 institution), applied and promoted productivity improvement strategies based on decent work principles.

Institutions were strengthened in **Belarus** (3 institutions), **Georgia** (1 institution), **Russian Federation** (5 institutions) and **Ukraine** (4 institutions), and to implement socially sensitive enterprise restructuring.

18

- **57.** Targets were generally met or exceeded under this operational objective, reflecting interest in the many distinct aspects of enterprise development that it covers and the involvement of many partners in delivering activities in almost all regions.
- **58.** Initial work by the *InFocus Programme on Boosting Employment through Small Enterprise Development* facilitated the implementation of more cost-effective projects that had greater impact. It also produced new methods to assess the employment impact of small enterprise development. Many projects enabled women and men, especially in the informal economy, to turn to self-employment. Others helped to open new market opportunities for small enterprises, for example in municipal services, culture-based products and services, tourism and commercial business services. The Office helped to bring national and local governments and social partners together to improve the policy environment for creating more and better jobs in small enterprises.

More details on small enterprise development are available at: http://oracle02.ilo.ch/dyn/empent/empent.portal?p_lang=EN&p_prog=S

59. There were new approaches and partnerships to improve job quality in micro-enterprises and to strengthen organization in the informal economy. Projects promoted women's entrepreneurship with support from employers' organizations. Seminars organized with the support of the Turin Centre helped to communicate best practices in support for small enterprises.

Better responses to employer and worker needs

The InFocus Programme on Boosting Employment through Small Enterprise Development surveyed workers and owners of micro- and small enterprises in ten countries to understand their own priorities for improving working conditions. It incorporated this knowledge in a variety of approaches to reach micro- and small enterprises.

For instance, training modules on job quality in Viet Nam showed that management trainees were able to improve working conditions and business performance, generally at low cost. A feasibility study in Ghana led to a pilot social marketing campaign to raise awareness of the link between job quality and business performance. In Moradabad, India, a project demonstrated how to build support throughout the supply chain (which ranges from household producers to subcontractors to multinational enterprises) for improving competitiveness through better job quality.

- **60.** Some member States adopted policies and laws regarding *cooperative development* with assistance from the ILO. Much of the technical assistance that the Office provided relating to job creation through cooperative self-help organizations had a special emphasis on women, unprotected workers, the rural poor and indigenous peoples in Africa and Asia. A new range of activities to promote employment and local development based on cooperation between all stakeholders in the local economy began to bear fruit through the creation of local economic development agencies in south-eastern Europe and southern Africa. Capacity building in cooperative partner organizations throughout the world remained a priority, with a particular focus on improving the skills needed in a more demanding business environment.
- **61.** Activities in the area of *social finance* expanded in scope and range. As a result, the ILO has become a leading agency on microfinance issues, best demonstrated when the United Nations High Commissioner for Refugees requested assistance in the area of post-conflict microfinance. Efforts were also made to ensure a more coherent approach to development-related finance issues across the Office on such issues as debt bondage, migrant worker

remittances, payment of wages owed by insolvent enterprises, socially responsible investments, HIV/AIDS and start-up finance for displaced workers.

- **62.** In the area of *productivity and management development*, the ILO helped member States initiate productivity and competitiveness approaches based on tripartite principles and international labour standards. Activities focused on socially responsible managerial competencies both within enterprises and along supply chains, promotion of enterprise restructuring that improves efficiency and competitiveness while minimizing social costs and sound management practices based on international labour standards.
- **63.** In this context, the ILO was a key partner in the United Nations Global Compact and in activities to support it around the world. The Global Compact asks companies to embrace, support and enact a set of core values within their spheres of influence. Those core values are defined through nine principles in the areas of human rights, labour standards and the environment. The Office contribution included development of a special management training package around the four labour principles of the Global Compact. It also included the launch of a database on business and social initiatives that was widely recognized as the most complete effort in this area.

The Global Compact database is accessible at: http://oracle02.ilo.org:6060/dyn/basi/vpisearch.first

Operational objective 2e: Gender promotion and employment

Indicator	Target and outcome
2e.1. ILO constituents that incorporate ILO gender analysis or gender-specific policy recommendations in their job creation and labour market strategies.	Target: ILO constituents in 10 member States.
	Outcome: 10 member States.
	Bangladesh, Estonia, India, Mexico, Nicaragua, United Republic of Tanzania and Viet Nam: Action plans implemented by tripartite (plus) partners to improve the quantity and quality of employment for women.
	Brazil: Anti-discrimination units created within the regional branches of the Ministry of Labour and Employment. Creation of the Andean Trade Union Women's Coordination Unit as a supporting mechanism for the design and application of policies to promote gender equality in employment.
	India: Prompt assistance provided to meet women's social and economic needs in earthquake districts.
	Nepal: Survey of women's employment, family welfare and child labour led to targeted interventions.

Strategies, results and lessons learned

64. ILO work in the area of *gender and employment* gained momentum. This led to greater application of gender analysis and perspectives in employment policies and enhanced visibility for the work of the Office. Increased donor support enabled the Office to better respond to a large number of requests for support. The knowledge and advocacy aspects of work in this area were reflected in new publications and resources that earned strong response. Operational country-level activities continued within the framework of the More and Better Jobs for Women programme, in some cases improving impact and reach through wider collaboration among programmes.

The equal opportunities information base (e.quality@work) is at: http://www.ilo.org/public/english/employment/gems/eeo/index.htm.

Strategic Objective No. 3: Enhance the coverage and effectiveness of social protection for all

Resources for social protection in 2000-01 (US\$)	
Regular budget strategic resources 2000-01(revised using 2002-03 methodology)	58 128 262
Actual regular budget expenditure 2000-01	(Available at ILC)
Estimated expenditure on technical cooperation (Programme and Budget for 2000-01)	13 882 000
Actual extra-budgetary expenditure 2000-01	(Available at ILC)

- **65.** Eighty per cent of the targets established under this strategic objective for the biennium 2000-01 were fully met or exceeded, as evidenced by the tables, with seven out of 15 exceeding the target and only two of the targets not met. However, some of this success can be attributed to the modest level of some targets, and to ambiguity in the way in which some were defined.
- **66.** The degree of attention to each operational objective under this strategic objective varied among regions. This reflected different social and economic environments, as well as the wide range of ILO interests that this strategic objective encompasses. For example, while worker health and safety issues were addressed in all regions, they attracted particular new attention in Eastern Europe, Central Asia, the Arab States and some Asian member States. In Latin America and the Caribbean, this work was supported through cooperation with the Pan-American Health Organization and regional institutions.
- **67.** In Africa, action on HIV/AIDS in the world of work was a clear priority in many member States. Furthermore, the region was the site of many efforts to develop and extend social protection systems, often through small-scale projects aimed at particular groups of people.
- **68.** In Asia and the Pacific, ILO efforts responded to the interest in broadening access to formal social protection coverage and improving understanding and financial analysis of existing levels of protection. Work also supported initiatives to meet the needs of people in the informal sector.
- **69.** Experiences and related challenges that were encountered in using the current set of operational objectives, indicators and targets, led to a reorganization in the Programme and Budget for 2002-03. The number of operational objectives was decreased from five to two (social security and working conditions), and related performance indicators from 14 to nine. This is expected to lead to more effective reporting on achievements in the field of social protection.

Operational objective 3a: International labour standards (social protection)

Indicator	Target and outcome
3a.1. The number of member States ratifying one of a selected group of safety and health Conventions.	Target: 20 member States. Outcome: 20 member States ratifying one or more of C.81, C.129, C.155, C.161, C.162, C.174, C.176, 6 member States giving effect to OSH Conventions. Azerbaijan, Belarus, Benin, Brazil, Cape Verde, Colombia, Czech Republic, El Salvador, Estonia, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Lebanon,
	Lesotho, Luxembourg, Republic of Moldova, Poland, Russian Federation, South Africa and United States. Bangladesh, Guyana, India and Sri Lanka: OSH legislation revised to reflect ILO OSH standards.
	Bangladesh and Pakistan: National tripartite bodies on OSH put in place.
3a.2. The number of members States with new national legislation reflecting ILO standards on the recruitment and treatment of migrant workers.	Target: 5 member States. Outcome: 5 member States. Belgium: In Flanders, legislation, regional policy proposals and administrative measures were explicitly inspired by findings of ILO research on discrimination in employment in Belgium.
	Indonesia: Following ILO's advisory services and workshop, the Government submitted a "Manpower Protection Bill" to Parliament which includes comprehensive framework for protection of Indonesian migrant workers.
	Republic of Korea: The Government requested ILO advice in finalizing a Bill to open a legal door to unskilled temporary foreign workers and to correct for weaknesses of the trainee system. Mediagraphy Retified C 97 in June 2001
	Madagascar: Ratified C.97 in June 2001. Mauritius: Specialized migrant worker supervisory office established in Ministry of Labour to oversee implementation of policies based on ILO C.97, ratified by Mauritius.
3a.3. The number of member States newly applying one of the ILO's codes of practice and guides on safety and health.	Target: 20 member States. Outcome: 28 member States and the European Parliament. Australia, China, Mongolia and Slovenia: Code of practice on safety and health in forestry work is being used.
	Bahrain, Bangladesh, China, Colombia, Egypt, Guyana, India, Iraq, Japan, Jordan, Kuwait, Lebanon, Malaysia, Oman, Pakistan, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, Sri Lanka, Syrian Arab Republic, Thailand, Viet Nam and Yemen, and West Bank and Gaza Strip use codes of practice and guidance in training or for drafting legislation, regulations and guidelines. China and India: Tripartite seminars on mine safety resulted in social dialogue on issues covered by the relevant code.
	European Parliament: The conclusions of the ILO's Tripartite Meeting on Safety and Health in the Fishing Industry (December 1999) are being taken into account in preparing new EU legislation.
	India: New company policies in 25 companies based on the ILO code of practice on management of alcohol- and drug-related issues in the workplace.
	Madagascar: Code of practice on mine safety in use. Russian Federation: The revised code of practice on accident prevention on board ship at sea and in port was translated into Russian.

- **70.** The first two indicators under this operational objective were related to the ratification of occupational safety and health Conventions and to the inclusion of ILO standards into new national legislation regarding migrant workers. The expected targets were reached for the first of the two indicators in member States at all levels of development, primarily in Europe and Central Asia. Progress was made towards the second, although legislation is being enacted at a much slower pace than projected.
- 71. During 2000-01, member States used safety and health Conventions to update or strengthen their legislation. For example, countries as diverse as Barbados, Ecuador, India, Malawi and Poland all improved their legislation that governs systems to help protect workers from hazards. In much the same way, member States as diverse as Argentina, Bahrain, Finland, Lesotho and Malaysia drew on ILO Conventions and Recommendations in their health and safety training and promotional efforts. This made it clear that the indicators should encompass implementation of Conventions and legislation. This is reflected in the revised indicator for 2002-03, which expands the scope to include implementation.

More details on the work of the InFocus Programme on Safety and Health at Work and in the Environment are available at:

http://www.ilo.org/public/english/protection/safework/index.htm.

72. The importance of implementation was also demonstrated through the indicator on the use of codes of practice and guides on safety and health. Strategies under this indicator were based on national and regional opportunities. For example, the translation of these guides and codes of practice into national languages was an important step for Russian-speaking countries and the Arab States. That basic step helped to facilitate other work, in particular with employers' and workers' organizations, that led to the ratification of occupational safety and health Conventions and Recommendations and to their application at enterprise level.

Operational objective 3b: Action against hazardous conditions

Indicator	Target and outcome
3b.1. The number of member States in which national SafeWork programmes of action for selected industries and hazardous agents such as construction, chemicals, mining and silicosis are launched.	Target: 8 member States. Outcome: 8 member States. Bulgaria, Czech Republic, Malta, Sri Lanka and Viet Nam: National SafeWork programmes of action to develop modern labour inspection systems launched. China, India, Thailand and Viet Nam: National action programmes on elimination of silicosis launched.

Indicator	Target and outcome
3b.2. The number of member States that have improved the coverage of their statistics on:	
(a) occupational accidents and diseases;	Target: 5 member States.
	Outcome: 11 member States.
	For the first time, the statistics on occupational injuries included in the 2000 edition of the ILO <i>Yearbook of Labour Statistics</i> are disaggregated by sex.
	Botswana, Bolivia, Jamaica, Jordan, Lesotho, Nigeria, Pakistan, Philippines, South Africa, Swaziland and Zimbabwe improved their ability to gather statistics.
(b) occupational safety and health with	Target: 3 member States.
gender disaggregation.	Outcome: 6 member States.
	Colombia, Jamaica, Nigeria, Pakistan, Philippines and Viet Nam.
3b.3. The level of technical cooperation	Target: \$3 million.
delivery.	Outcome: To be reported at the ILC.
	Bahrain, Belarus, Bolivia, Brazil, China, Ethiopia, India, Malaysia, Mongolia, Morocco, Namibia, Nepal, Pakistan, Russian Federation, Viet Nam, Zambia and Zimbabwe: Active occupational safety and health technical cooperation projects.

- **73.** This operational objective has three diverse indicators. The first two address national and targeted programmes of action on priority workplace safety and health issues, and aspects of occupational statistics in this area. The third addresses technical cooperation delivery.
- **74.** In addition to the countries that were direct beneficiaries, results were widely disseminated. The development of programmes of action on priority workplace safety and health issues at the national level is one of the indicators kept for the forthcoming biennium under this strategic objective.

Inter-agency cooperation for sound management of chemicals

Many agencies have an interest in collaborating to maximize the best possible management of chemicals. The InFocus Programme on Safety and Health at Work and in the Environment (SafeWork) provided ILO leadership in the Inter-Organization Programme for the Sound Management of Chemicals. That group coordinates the work of seven organizations (ILO, WHO, UNEP, FAO, UNIDO, UNITAR and OECD). Its collaboration led to the completion of a globally harmonized system (GHS) for the classification and labelling of chemicals. This universal standard addresses chemical hazard communication needs for the workplace, transport, consumers and the environment. It fulfils the request made in a 1989 ILO resolution and a recommendation from the 1992 United Nations Conference on Environment and Development. Completion of the GHS was recognized and endorsed by the Governing Body of the ILO in November 2001. Recognizing the importance of the GHS, ECOSOC has established a United Nations subcommittee on the GHS to maintain and update the standard.

Further information on the subcommittee can be found at: http://www.unece.org/trans/danger/danger.htm.

75. The second indicator under this operational objective relates to improvement in statistical coverage of occupational accidents and diseases, including the availability of information by gender. Modest initial targets were met. Data disaggregated by sex were included in the chapter devoted to occupational injuries in the *Yearbook of Labour Statistics* for the first time. In view of this success, a strategy based on collaboration with national social security institutions will be implemented in 2002-03.

Operational objective 3c: Improved working and employment conditions for vulnerable groups

Indicator

3c.1. The number of countries in which policies and programmes to extend the coverage of social security to the most difficult to reach have been introduced, either through public schemes or voluntary initiatives.

Target and outcome

Target: 15 member States. **Outcome:** 13 member States.

Argentina: New phase of a project aiming at fighting social exclusion in health starting with government funding.

Bangladesh: Extension of coverage through micro health insurance schemes currently promoted through partnerships with Grameen Kalyan, BRAC and the Government.

Benin, Burkina Faso, Guinea and **Senegal:** Micro health insurance schemes set up within various community organizations and network for the exchange of information and sharing of experience established.

Benin, Cameroon and **Gabon**: Tripartite structures have been set up, including representation groups of the informal sector, in order to help the rehabilitation of existing voluntary initiative schemes and their assistance to the non-formal sector.

Burkina Faso, Ethiopia and **Viet Nam:** Projects to extend the coverage of social protection through a combination of voluntary schemes and social security reforms started their activities in November 2001.

Cameroon and **Democratic Republic of the Congo**: New health-care schemes through voluntary initiatives are operational.

Democratic Republic of the Congo: 800 teachers and farmers in Kinshasa set up mutual health scheme.

Senegal: "Solidarity-Employment-Retirement" scheme established. **Tunisia:** Case study on country experiences and best practices on the extension of coverage has led to the improvement of government policy on the extension of social protection.

3c.2. The number of countries launching programmes based on ILO guidelines for achieving equality for men and women migrant workers.

Target: 3 member States.

Outcome: 7 member States and 1 international conference.

Belgium: The Minister of Labour proposed a new anti-discrimination policy and legislation initiative, based in part on ILO studies and materials.

Costa Rica: ILO helped launch information campaign on migrant domestic workers' rights by Association of Migrant Domestic Workers.

Denmark: The Government adopted anti-discrimination policies based on ILO guidelines.

Finland: Government Action Plan launched to combat ethnic discrimination and racism drew on ILO anti-discrimination documentation.

Ireland: The Irish Congress of Trade Unions launched a national effort promoting employer, union and government anti-discrimination measures.

Netherlands and **Spain**: Findings and recommendations from research initiated as part of ILO studies on discrimination against migrants in access to employment contributed to national programmes.

Durban Conference: ILO contributed important elements for draft Programme of Action on non-discrimination against migrant workers and combating racism and xenophobia.

Indicator

3c.3. The number of member States in which local institutions are using ILO tools and methodologies to improve working conditions in small-scale enterprises and the informal sector.

Target and outcome

Target: 6 member States. **Outcome:** 6 member States.

Haiti: In the garment assembly sector, in collaboration with the Haitian employers' organization, ADIH, initial Work Improvement in Small Enterprises (WISE) training has been conducted for business owners, supervisors and local trainers.

Lao People's Democratic Republic: Following translation of the WISE Action Manual into Lao, WISE training has been integrated into an export promotion programme for small-scale garment and handicraft manufacturers and WISE trainers have been trained in the garment and handicraft employers' organizations.

Mongolia: WISE training programmes are continuing by the Mongolian Employers' Federation after initial ILO support.

Philippines: WISE has been institutionalized, with 130 workshops conducted by the Department of Labour and Employment in 2000 and 25 in the first half of 2001, as well as a further 15 refresher courses for WISE trainers. Trainers from the Philippines are being requested to provide training of trainers and advisory services in other countries.

Thailand: 50 labour inspectors were trained in 2001 to conduct WISE training in the provinces. WISE training for home-based workers has subsequently been conducted in Chiang Mai Province.

Viet Nam: The Ministry of Labour, Invalids and Social Affairs (MOLISA) has integrated the WISE training methods into their labour inspector training courses. The Vietnamese Chamber of Commerce and Industry (VCCI) also conducted WISE courses. For information on results of working conditions improvements in micro-enterprises see also 2d.2.

3c.4. The number of member States addressing the issue of HIV/AIDS and the world of work with ILO assistance.

Target: 10 member States. **Outcome:** 10 member States.

Burkina Faso: ILO code of practice presented to constituents. MOL has set up tripartite AIDS Committee; guidance from ILO on integrating HIV/AIDS into labour legislation was requested.

Ghana: Technical guidance provided on training labour inspectors on HIV/AIDS.

India: Project on HIV/AIDS prevention in the world of work is operational.

Malawi: ILO acting as facilitator for national workplace policy on HIV/AIDS; also working on capacity building with Ministry of Labour.

Malaysia: Guidance and technical assistance provided by the ILO in the formulation of a national code of practice on HIV/AIDS.

Senegal: Government has undertaken the training of labour inspectors on HIV/AIDS prevention, non-discrimination and policy development.

South Africa: Assistance to National School of Public Health to develop lectures for HIV/AIDS management at the workplace diploma.

United Republic of Tanzania: ILO assisting in drafting national workplace policy on HIV/AIDS and conducts awareness raising among tripartite constituents.

Thailand: Collaboration with Government on reforming legislation in line with code of practice; capacity building with Ministry of Labour and Thai and Asian Business Coalition.

Zambia: Technical and financial assistance to set up Zambia Business Coalition on AIDS and to formulate workplace policy based on code of practice.

26

Indicator	Target and outcome
3c.5. The number of member States in	Target: 10 member States.
which data are generated on maternity protection, work and family, and working time and used in policy formulation.	Outcome: 4 member States.
	Former Socialist Federal Republic of Yugoslavia: Analysis of the draft labour code, covering hours of work, overtime, part-time employment, night work, rest breaks and maternity protection was used in revising the draft code, now being considered by Parliament.
	Haiti: Analysis of the draft labour code, covering hours of work, overtime, part-time employment, night work, rest breaks and maternity protection was used by the Ministry of Social Affairs in revising the draft code.
	Saint Lucia: Analysis of the draft labour code, covering hours of work, overtime, part-time employment, night work, rest breaks, and maternity protection was used by the Government in revising the draft code.
	South Africa: ILO data and analysis have been used by the South African National Economic, Development and Labour Council (NEDLAC) in deliberations on statutory hours of work.

76. For 2000-01, this operational objective included a diverse range of issues, including social security, migrant workers, working conditions, HIV/AIDS and some occupational health and safety issues. For 2002-03, these issues have been divided between the two new broader operational objectives under this strategic objective.

Combating exclusion from social protection for health care in Argentina

The Government of Argentina asked the ILO to conduct a technical cooperation agreement with its Ministry of Health on exclusion from social protection for health. A technical cooperation project was launched through the Strategies and Tools against Social Exclusion and Poverty programme (STEP). The project helped to identify the causes and scale of exclusion as well as possible solutions. Some of those solutions were incorporated into draft legislation to reform the health sector. Argentina also used the results in successful negotiations on sectoral adjustment with the World Bank.

- 77. Access to insurance for health care in Africa accounted for a large share of the results for the biennium related to *the extension of social protection*. This built on work that began more than a decade earlier, particularly in West Africa, with analyses of gaps and opportunities in social protection for health care. Those analyses led to the development of specific community-based strategies, methodologies and tools. Related work was also in progress on a broader range of social protection issues in a wider range of member States. This is expected to generate a wider set of results for 2002-03. The same should be true of a pilot initiative that began during the biennium to test the use of reinsurance mechanisms to support and build sustainability in micro-insurance schemes.
- **78.** ILO policies recognize the vulnerability of *migrant workers* and the discrimination and lack of protection that they often face. The modest target under this indicator is explained by the uncertainties that existed when the indicator was defined and the target was set. The work to date suggests a potential for sustainable results in this area, which helped lead to the decision to raise the target for 2002-03 from three to eight member States. This is likely to build on work that is largely taking place in Europe.
- **79.** It is expected that the partnership agreement signed in 2001 between the ILO and the International Organization for Migration will facilitate the development of a more integrated strategy of action in this area, including the follow-up of the World Conference against Racism held in Durban 2001.

More details on the work of the International Labour Migration Programme are available at: http://www.ilo.org/public/english/protection/migrant/index.htm.

- **80.** Workers in small and medium-sized enterprises, all the more when they are considered to be part of the informal economy, are among those most vulnerable in terms of working conditions. Over the years, the Office has developed a number of tools and instruments, including the Work Improvement in Small Enterprises (WISE) methodology as noted in the tables, to help countries address this situation. Those tools and instruments were applied in line with projected targets. The impact of their application needs to be monitored.
- **81.** A key element of the strategy pursued to make ILO tools operational was to integrate issues of working conditions into broader services such as business and community development. Much of this work also took place as part of efforts to strengthen employers' organizations. This proved to be an effective means to communicate the message that "protection pays", and to build links with local organizations that deliver such services to these target groups. Other initial work to develop innovative approaches combining microenterprise development and improvement of working conditions was undertaken successfully in close partnership with business development services.
- **82.** One area that was identified for future work was the need for greater clarity and better internal collaboration related to the part of operational objective 2d relating to the application of ILO policy and practical tools on productivity and management development and the part of operational objective 3c relating to the improvement of working conditions in small-scale enterprises and the informal sector.

More details on ILO activities on working conditions are available at: http://www.ilo.org/public/english/protection/condtrav/index.htm.

- **83.** The ILO *HIV/AIDS* programme only started its activities in November 2000, which led to a relatively modest target of ten member States addressing HIV/AIDS and the world of work with ILO assistance. That target was met, largely on the basis of work in Africa where the issue has a very high priority. Much of that success was due to collaboration with workers' and employers' organizations. This collaboration made it possible to address specific HIV/AIDS priorities where ILO intervention was most likely to have an impact.
- **84.** HIV/AIDS actions have begun to expand in other regions such as Asia and the Caribbean. A tripartite conference in Moscow in December 2001 followed the adoption by representatives of the Commonwealth of Independent States of a regional integrated strategy to combat HIV/AIDS. This added the 12 members of the CIS to the list of those working with the Office to define a specific approach to HIV/AIDS and the world of work.

More details on the work of ILO/AIDS are available at: http://www.ilo.org/public/english/protection/trav/aids/index.htm.

- **85.** Within six months of its adoption, the ILO code of practice on HIV/AIDS and the world of work had been translated into nine languages in addition to its original English, French and Spanish versions. This is expected to be the basis for a significant increase in the number of countries introducing policy changes in 2002-03.
- **86.** In the areas of *maternity protection, working time and work and family*, the strategy emphasized the importance of elevating these issues in national policy debates. Efforts to

secure improvements and to integrate them into employment policy were hampered in many countries by an insufficient information base on which to make policy choices. This made data generation and analysis an essential first step and helps to explain the reason that data was only used in policy formulation in only four countries, compared to a target of ten. Experience showed that the process of data generation leading to national debate and policy formulation takes longer than two years. By the end of the biennium, work was in progress in 14 countries, through a combination of country studies (both on working time and work and family) and representative national surveys (on work and family). These studies are expected to help lead to more substantive results in the next biennium.

- 87. The strategy for *maternity protection* was to promote ratification of the Maternity Protection Convention, 2000 (No. 183), that was adopted in June 2000, to promote improvements based on the Convention where ratification was not immediately feasible, and to support added maternity protection, especially to women who have the least protection. The strategy emphasized the coherence between this target and improved working and employment conditions for vulnerable groups. It supported analysis of labour cost implications and set out to demonstrate that "protection pays". To this end, a series of studies identified local initiatives around the world that were providing maternity protection to previously unprotected women.
- **88.** The results of the work in 2000-01 will support efforts in the next biennium to expand the use of promising initiatives in expanding protection. This is likely to include the development of practical tools and methodologies on maternity protection and on work and family.

Operational objective 3d: Scope of social security programmes

Indicator	Target and outcome
3d.1. The number of member States initiating actions to improve the financial architecture and governance of their national social protection schemes and systems following ILO intervention.	Target: 10 member States.
	Outcome: 20 member States and Tonga.
	Bahamas: A new health-care financing option was developed and endorsed by the Government.
	Bahamas, Barbados, Dominica, Grenada, Guyana, Jordan, Montserrat, Saint Kitts and Nevis, Saint Lucia, South Africa, Tonga and Zimbabwe: Legislative changes/new legislation on financing social protection were introduced or are being processed following ILO intervention.
	Belarus, Cyprus and Luxembourg : The International Financial and Actuarial Service informed the public debate on the future of its pension system.
	Lao People's Democratic Republic, Turkey and Viet Nam: Sound financing principles for new social security schemes adopted.
	Poland and Ukraine : Social budgeting units have been established as a permanent means of governance.
3d.2. The number of member States that adopt reforms of their official social security schemes to extend coverage.	Target: 5 member States.
	Outcome: 10 member States.
	Cape Verde, Indonesia, Lao People's Democratic Republic, United Republic of Tanzania, Turkey and Viet Nam: Reforms have been adopted.
	Guinea-Bissau , Nigeria and Thailand : Proposals to extend the range of social security benefits or to improve coverage have been approved.
	Sierra Leone : New social security schemes have been approved and legislation enacted to provide social security to previously excluded people in Sierra Leone.

- **89.** The modest target for the first indicator under this operational objective was easily met, which relates to member States "initiating actions" regarding better financing and improved governance of existing schemes and systems. This is well below the actual number of member States in which the Office is at work on these issues and is explained by a relatively narrow emphasis on financial architecture issues only. For the next biennium, while the wording of the indicator will be unchanged, results under this indicator will encompass work by the Office related to both financial and administrative governance.
- **90.** During the biennium it was recognized that two separate strategies had developed. Headquarters was focused more on questions related to the extension of coverage and financing, with special emphasis on Europe, while the regions, and notably the MDTs, devoted more efforts to the consolidation of and improvements in existing social security schemes.

Informing the pension debate in Luxembourg

In April 2000, the Government of Luxembourg requested neutral technical advice from the ILO on the financial status of its national pension system. Based on a comprehensive long-term demographic, economic and financial modelling exercise, the ILO team advised the Government that the scheme would be financially sound under agreed economic assumptions for at least 30 more years. In addition, the scheme could afford some improvements. However, the analysis also revealed that the scheme's viability depended on a sustained influx of foreign labour. The work of a tripartite consultative committee alongside the ILO team created the base for unanimous acceptance of the technical results. The report is now the factual basis for the deliberations of the national round table on pensions.

- 91. Future, better-coordinated action in this area is expected to be facilitated by three factors. The first is the resolution of the International Labour Conference at its 89th Session (June 2001) concerning social security that provides clear guidance on priority fields for future ILO intervention. The second is the significant progress made in completing and disseminating the tools and instruments required for quantitative analysis of social protection systems. The third is the commitment of field and headquarters units of the Office to increase attention to local capacity building and knowledge transfer, which should lead to more effective ILO interventions. Country-focused actions already conducted in this area, notably in Eastern Europe, have already shown promising results.
- 92. As the second indicator under this operational objective ("The number of member States that adopt reforms of their official social security schemes to extend coverage") overlapped with indicator 3c.1; both are integrated for 2002-03. Achievements under the existing indicator were almost double a fairly limited target, with most of the results generated in Africa and South-East Asia. These results drew on technical expertise provided through field and headquarters units. The work in progress responds to opportunities for social security reform in a wider range of countries. Consistent with the direction of the resolution of the International Labour Conference (89th Session) concerning social security, future strategies will emphasize cooperation with the International Social Security Association and other agencies. They will include efforts to gain support from the IMF and the World Bank.

Operational objective 3e: Economic and social insecurity

Indicator	Target and outcome
3e.1. The number of member States where data are generated and used to develop strategies and policies to combat economic and social insecurity.	Target: 12 member States. Outcome: 16 member States. Argentina, Azerbaijan, Brazil, Chile, China, Ethiopia, Hungary, India, Indonesia, Republic of Moldova, Pakistan, Philippines, Russian Federation, South Africa, United Republic of Tanzania and Ukraine: Data generated through the people's security surveys (PSS) and the enterprise labour flexibility and security (ELFS). Work conducted under this indicator has remained largely in the phase of data generation. The data generated will be used in 2002-03 biennium for the design of national strategies and policies.

Strategies, results and lessons learned

93. During the current biennium, the strategic priority set out in the programme and budget for addressing economic and social insecurity was the development of an information base to support future work. In practice, this meant the development of a network of reputable institutions and correspondents in ILO member countries involved in labour issue research and promotion. It also meant the development of a comprehensive database on socioeconomic security indicators in 103 countries, and the people's security surveys and enterprise labour flexibility surveys, which collected data for further analysis on households and businesses.

More details on the work of the InFocus Programme on Social and Economic Security are available at:

http://www.ilo.org/public/english/protection/ses/index.htm

94. This work is seen as an essential first phase that will lead to the use of the knowledge to design nationally appropriate strategies and policies that will combat social and economic insecurity. In fact, these methodological tools and approaches were used by the ILO field structure in work on PRSP initiatives. They were also used in Ukraine to construct monitoring tools for insecurity, to contribute to the design of integrated poverty alleviation strategies in the Russian Federation and to inform comprehensive social protection strategies in Indonesia and Kazakhstan.

Eastern Europe and Central Asia: Towards improved social and economic security

In the Russian Federation, the ILO took the lead in answering, on behalf of the United Nations system, the request of the Government for assistance in the design of an integrated strategy for fighting poverty. This 18-month project covered: income distribution via social transfers; health concerns; wage policies; enterprise restructuring effects; employability of vulnerable groups; family implications; gender aspects; regional aspects; legal and administrative aspects; statistical monitoring. The results were presented publicly to a high-level tripartite meeting held in Moscow in November 2001 and received excellent media coverage. They are expected to strongly influence Russian social policy.

In **Kazakhstan**, following a project implemented by the ILO with UNDP support, the Government adopted by Decree in June 2001 a "Concept for the Social Protection of the Population", which makes explicit reference to the contribution made by the ILO. The ILO approach to the project included all four strategic objectives in a unified way.

Strategic Objective No. 4: Strengthen tripartism and social dialogue

Resources for social dialogue in 2000-01 (US\$)	
Regular budget strategic resources 2000-01 (revised using 2002-03 methodology)	93 883 233
Actual regular budget expenditure 2000-01	(Available at ILC)
Estimated expenditure on technical cooperation (Programme and Budget for 2000-01)	24 832 000
Actual extra-budgetary expenditure 2000-01	(Available at ILC)

95. During 2000-01, the ILO met or exceeded 71 per cent of the targets set under this strategic objective, exceeding projections in 11 out of 17 targets, not meeting them in six cases. In part, this reflected conservative targets, as units gained experience with the new strategic budgeting process. Experience also led to a redefinition of objectives, indicators and targets for 2002-03 for this strategic objective. There will be a clear focus on two objectives. One will centre on strategies designed to help strengthen legal frameworks, institutions, machinery and processes for social dialogue. The other will involve strategies designed to help bring about more representative, influential and effective employers' and workers' organizations.

Operational objective 4a: Recognition of social dialogue and Operational objective 4b: Institutions of social dialogue

Indicator	Target and outcome
4a.1. ILO member States in which social partners participate in the adoption of social and economic policies and programmes and labour legislation.	Target: 10 member States.
	Outcome: 15 member States and 1 other entity.
	Bosnia and Herzegovina: New law on works councils adopted. Labour law amended.
	Estonia: New Trade Union Act adopted.
	Ghana: Revised Labour Act created 2 tripartite institutions addressing dispute settlement and on social and economic issues.
	Indonesia: New Trade Union Act adopted and implemented.
	Lesotho and Swaziland: Revised labour codes to create tripartite institutions for dispute prevention and resolution.
	Malta: Malta Council for Economic and Social Development established
	Pakistan: Establishment of Workers' and Employers' Bipartite Council of Pakistan.
	Poland: Act to create Tripartite Commission for Socio-economic Issues adopted.
	Poland: Tripartite agreement to labour code amendments concerning labour relations.
	Slovakia: New Labour Code adopted.
	South Africa: Amendment to South Africa's labour laws agreed to at bipartite Millennium Labour Council.
	Suriname: Tripartite agreement to a national consultation on social dialogue.
	Trinidad and Tobago: Tripartite declaration on a social and economic compact.
	Tunisia: Tripartite discussions on competitiveness and employment security in national policies.
	As well as the following entity that is not a member State:
	Kosovo: Essential labour law adopted and promulgated.

Indicator

4a.2. International organizations and regional or subregional groupings that integrate social and labour dimensions in policies, action plans and institution building.

Target and outcome

Target: 2 international organizations.

Outcome: 12.

 $\textbf{FAO/IMO:} \ \, \textbf{Safety and health in fishing in report of FAO/IMO joint Ad Hoc}$

Working Group.

IMO/UNEP: Occupational safety and health in ship breaking.

IMO: Cooperation in maritime and port work resulting in greater recognition of role of social partners. Joint guidelines adopted concerning

claims for death, injury and abandonment of seafarers. **ISO:** C.152 in guidelines on handling containers.

UNESCO: Dakar Framework for Action includes reference to lifelong learning, April 2000.

UPU: Cooperation with social partners strengthened in cooperation with

WHO: Work programmes of the Global Health Workforce Strategy Group and the Global Advisory Group on Nursing/Midwifery. Greater recognition of employment and labour impacts regarding tobacco control.

WIPO: Status of performers.

World Bank: Coordinated Collaborative Group on Artisanal and Small-scale Mining, which ILO was instrumental in establishing.

WTO/OECD/EUROSTAT: Employment statistics in hotel and tourism sector.

Target: 5 regional and subregional groupings.

Outcome: 2.

Caribbean Community (CARICOM): Declaration endorsing social dialogue as an instrument for achieving consensus on economic restructuring policies as well as work through its Council on Human and Social Development (COSHOD) to integrate social and labour dimensions in regional policies.

Central African Economic and Monetary Community (CAEMAC): Tripartite declaration endorsing social dialogue.

4b.1. Cases in which constituents use ILO recommendations (including conclusions of sectoral meetings), advice, practical tools or research to strengthen the institutions, machinery or processes of social dialogue.

Target: 40 cases in 30 member States.

Outcome: 52 cases in 40 member States.

Argentina, Australia, Chile, Costa Rica, El Salvador, Grenada, Guatemala, Honduras, Indonesia, Republic of Korea, Malaysia, Nicaragua, Panama, Peru, Uruguay and United States: Port worker Development Programme (PDP) used by port authorities.

Bangladesh, **India** and **Sri Lanka**: Institutions for prevention and settlement of disputes strengthened through training activities.

Barbados: (i) Moving to establish national tripartite committee to deal with international standards, and other labour matters; (ii) negotiating its 4th Social Partnership Protocol.

Belize: In 2001 appointed a national tripartite body to deal with trade union recognition issues.

Benin, Guinea and **Togo:** Collective agreements in the hotel and tourism sector.

Chile: Tripartite Council for Social Dialogue established.

Colombia: Tripartite agreements in institutionalizing social dialogue and on minimum wage remunerations, social security, vocational training, labour law.

Czech Republic: Labour Code amended to promote social dialogue through works councils.

Czech Republic: Renewed process of reform and negotiation on education sector reform.

Fiji: Tripartite forum reactivated after 10 years.

France: 5 oil companies have agreed to recognize and apply ILO maritime Conventions.

Indicator

Target and outcome

Guyana: The social partners are discussing a draft social partnership agreement.

India: Best practices highlighting bipartite approaches to promoting social dialogue at enterprise level disseminated.

Jamaica: Memoranda of Agreements for bipartite social partnership arrangements in the bauxite, banana, water and shipping sectors.

Jordan: Social dialogue promoted for women workers and entrepreneurs based on conclusions of TCF meeting held in 2000.

Madagascar: Small-scale mines handbook being used.

Nepal: Diagnostic study of industrial relations system in Nepal undertaken.

Niger: A new Decree adopted to bring civil society into the Tripartite National Committee.

Paraguay: Social Dialogue Institution restructured to improve functioning.

Philippines: Application of R.187 resulted in 15 per cent wage increase for Filipino seafarers.

Romania: Social agreement for social peace adopted.

Thailand: 10 pilot provincial tripartite subcommittees on minimum wages set up.

Trinidad and Tobago: The Government and the social partners signed Compact 2000 to enter into agreed protocols.

Yemen: Bipartite dialogue re-established and agreement reached on a national mechanism for social dialogue.

As well as outcomes in the following cases:

Curaçao: Independent social groups, the social partners and government are implementing Vishon Korsou, a vision for Curaçao by 2020.

Kosovo: Tripartite Labour Council established and entrusted with labour law reform. Trade unions recognized and members of the Tripartite Labour Council.

International: Agreement on wages based on ILO R.187 between the International Transport Workers and the International Maritime Employers' Committee. Guide to ILO standards relevant to sustainable forest management used by the International Federation of Building and Wood Workers.

Basic elements from the guide to ILO standards adopted by two important forest certification schemes: Forest Stewardship Council and Pan-European Forest Certification.

4b.2. Member States that adopt policies and implement, ratify or take formal steps towards the ratification of ILO Conventions addressing the institutions or practice of social dialogue.

Target: 12 member States implement, ratify or take formal steps towards the ratification of Conventions on freedom of association and collective bargaining as specified under operational objective 1a.

Outcome: 14 member States.

Colombia, Indonesia, Kenya and Uganda: Steps for improving implementation of C.98.

Colombia, **Indonesia** and **Nigeria**: Steps for improving implementation of C.87.

Democratic Republic of the Congo, Kazakhstan, Saint Kitts and Nevis, Saint Vincent and the Grenadines, United Republic of Tanzania and Yugoslavia: Ratification of C.87.

Equatorial Guinea, Gambia, Saint Kitts and Nevis and **Yugoslavia:** Ratification of C.98.

Kenya and **Uganda**: Taking steps towards ratification of C.87.

Indicator	Target and outcome		
	Saint Kitts and Nevis: Ratification of C.144. Saint Lucia: Ratification of C.154. See also under operational objective 1a: Standards and fundamental principles and rights at work.		
	Target: 10 member States adopt policies. Outcome: 6 member States. Honduras, Kazakhstan, Mauritius, Nicaragua, Peru and Romania.		
	Target: 10 ratifications of C.144. Outcome: 7 ratifications. Belize, Czech Republic, Kazakhstan, Kuwait, Saint Kitts and Nevis, Switzerland and Yemen.		
	Target: 15 ratifications of Conventions covering specific sectors. Outcome: 35 ratifications in 20 member States. Maritime: Bahamas: C.147, Italy: C.152; Republic of Moldova: C.108; Morocco: C.108, C.178, C.179, C.180; Romania: C.22, C.68, C.92, C.133, C.147, C.166, C.180; Russian Federation: C.179, Sweden: C.178, C.180, United Kingdom: C.180. Safety and health in mines (C.176): Czech Republic, Lebanon, Poland South Africa and United States.		
	Labour inspection in agriculture (C.129): Azerbaijan and Kazakhstan. Protocols to Conventions. Maritime (1996 Protocol to C.147): Romania, Sweden and United Kingdom.		
	Labour inspection in non-commercial services sector (Protocol to C.81): Azerbaijan, Cyprus and Republic of Moldova. WIPO/ILO/UNESCO Convention for the Protection of Performers, Producers of Phonograms and Broadcasting Organizations (Rome Convention, 1961): Albania, Croatia, Estonia and Nicaragua.		
4b.3. Member States in which tripartite or bipartite institutions, mechanisms or processes address gender equality issues.	Target: 15 additional member States. Outcome: 4 additional member States. Argentina: Tripartite Commission on Gender Equality reactivated and strengthened. Chile: Round Table on Women and Labour set up within the newly		
	established Tripartite Council for Social Dialogue. Paraguay: National Tripartite Commission on Gender Equality established. Uruguay: Tripartite Commission on Gender Equality formulating nationa plan on equal opportunity in employment.		

Strategies, results and lessons learned

96. This commentary has been integrated and organized to provide a baseline for future reporting under the objectives, indicators and targets as set for 2002-03. This reflects the 2000-01 experience that integrated strategies are required to both better recognize social dialogue and to develop and strengthen its institutions.

More details on the work of the InFocus Programme on Social Dialogue are available at:

http://www.ilo.org/public/english/dialogue/infocus/index.htm

97. During the biennium ILO support enabled many social dialogue institutions to address traditional issues of interest to employers, workers and governments. These discussions

centred on topics such as labour market policies, labour legislation, social security, collective bargaining, disputes resolution, safety and health, vocational training, productivity and minimum wage negotiations. However, ILO efforts also promoted the recognition of social dialogue as a valuable way to build consensus on broader economic and social challenges, whether through existing or new consultative forums. Consultations through tripartite forums produced positive impacts such as dispute settlements, industrial agreements and productivity improvements to support economic growth and development.

Social partnerships guide Czech Labour Code amendments

The Czech Republic is actively pursuing membership in the European Union and wants to improve its implementation of ILO Conventions. As part of this, it set out to amend its Labour Code. ILO expertise and advisory services supported a vibrant consultation and negotiation process. The tripartite Economic and Social Council discussed draft amendments proposed by the Government, employers' and workers' organizations and other experts. They reached compromises on many issues, paving the way for an amended Labour Code that came into effect in January 2001. It improves gender discrimination protection, introduces new forms of social dialogue at the enterprise level, increases protection against collective redundancies and raises the minimum level of annual paid leave.

- **98.** Much of this work to support and encourage social dialogue took place through technical and advisory services to constituents and member States. As a further part of the overall strategy to strengthen the effectiveness of institutions and social partners, more resources were devoted to expanding the ILO knowledge-base of the institutions, machinery and processes of social dialogue.
- **99.** Work with specific economic sectors was another element in building social dialogue and achieving greater outcomes under this strategic objective. One such outcome was the growing use by other international organizations, especially within the United Nations system, of the results of ILO social dialogue efforts within specific sectors. This reflected the recognition of ILO expertise in social dialogue and social policy issues affecting particular economic sectors. It meant that the ILO registered an impact that went far beyond the biennial target.

More details on sectoral activities are available at: http://www.ilo.org/public/english/dialogue/sector/index.htm

100. Sectoral meeting outcomes related to standards, training or occupational safety and health were put into practical application through existing or new sectoral social dialogue mechanisms created with ILO assistance. This was most apparent in sectors such as education, textiles and clothing, hotels and tourism, shipping and ports, mining and forestry. In addition to its normal programme of sectoral meetings, the Office organized high-profile meetings on the hotel and tourism sector and on civil aviation that identified strategies for constituents and the ILO to deal with the downturn in both sectors after 11 September 2001. The first meeting of the High-level Tripartite Working Group on Maritime Labour Standards was a key step in the consolidation of all ILO standards in that sector.

Ensuring decent work in sustainable forests

ILO constituents in the forestry sector are active in independent, third-party certification of forest management and forest product labelling schemes. This voluntary certification promotes sustainable development and communicates the industry's achievements.

The challenge has been how best to recognize social and labour aspects in performance standards. Constituents recognized that many ILO texts would help in this process and asked for a guide to ILO texts relevant to sustainable forest management. Since publication of that guide in July 2000, the globally operating Forest Stewardship Council (FSC) and the Pan-European Forest Certification (PEFC) have adapted their standards and procedures in line with the suggestions in the guide. This includes compliance with the Conventions covered by the Declaration and recommended use of the ILO code regarding work safety. This success has led European governments to approach the ILO for assistance with incorporating social components into national sustainable forest management policies.

- 101. While progress beyond established targets was achieved in the ratification of ILO Conventions covering some specific sectors as noted in the results table, less progress was achieved than projected on ratification and implementation of some core Conventions linked to social dialogue. In particular, it was decided that since the Tripartite Consultation (International Labour Standards) Convention, 1976 (No. 144), has more than 100 ratifications, the emphasis should be on integrated strategies in specific member States combining encouragement for ratification with technical cooperation to improve tripartism and social dialogue in substantive ways. Forthcoming advocacy and promotional materials that communicate best practices will further support this strategy.
- **102.** Even with the progress to date, the value of social dialogue is still often unrecognized and underutilized, especially in strategies to address broad social and economic priorities, such as employment, sound industrial relations, social protection and gender equality. A related concern is that many existing consultative institutions are not generating outcomes.
- 103. In response, future social dialogue strategies will emphasize support for dialogue at the enterprise, sectoral, national and subregional levels. Strategies will include research into the impacts of social dialogue on major issues. Technical advice and assistance will emphasize the establishment and renewal of the basic legal and institutional frameworks that are necessary for effective social dialogue.

Operational objective 4c: Stronger parties to social dialogue

Support for stronger workers' organizations

Indicator	Target and outcome	
4c.1. Employers' or workers' organizations that provide new or improved services to their members or strengthen their capacity to provide such services.	Target: Workers' organizations in 30 countries.	
	Outcome: Workers' organizations in more than 50 countries.	
	Results: Standards and fundamental principles and rights at work.	
	Arab States: Positive trade unions impact on ratifications of C.182, C.111 and C.87 in the countries across the region.	
	Armenia, Azerbaijan, Belarus, Georgia, Kazakhstan, Kyrgyzstan, Republic of Moldova, Russian Federation and Ukraine: International Forum on Freedom of Association raised workers' awareness. A trade union information network set up to monitor violations of C.87 and C.98. Training materials developed.	
	Bahrain, Jordan and territories under the Palestinian Authority: Amendments to the Labour Code based on core Conventions presented to Parliament and taken into consideration.	

Indicator

Target and outcome

Belarus: Trade unions at the forefront of campaign for democracy, trade union and human rights. Web site created as an important tool for the campaign.

Benin: Training module on the ILO Declaration introduced in workers' education programme.

Benin and **Nigeria:** Joint national programmes adopted to strengthen capacity on collective bargaining and participation in tripartite bodies.

Burkina Faso, Colombia, Ecuador, Guinea, Peru, Sao Tome and Principe and Venezuela: Training programmes with emphasis on collective bargaining adopted to strengthen capacity of workers' organizations on collective bargaining and participation in tripartite and bipartite bodies.

Ethiopia: Proposals on privatization and the right to consultation and collective bargaining serving as basis for negotiations with the Government

Ghana, Nigeria, Swaziland and United Republic of Tanzania: Trade union capacity strengthened in the campaign for ratification of the core international labour standards. Internal structure developed by trade unions to monitor respect of fundamental principles and rights at work.

Honduras: Proposal for a new law covering the agricultural sector drafted by trade unions and submitted to Parliament.

Lesotho and **Malawi**: Collective bargaining increased with more collective agreements signed at national, industrial and enterprise levels.

Pakistan: Ban on trade union activities in the Water and Power Development Authority (WAPDA) lifted. May Day restored as a public holiday. Workers' and Employers' Bipartite Council of Pakistan (WEBCOP) established in all provinces for cooperation and social dialogue at all levels.

Thailand: Right to establish trade unions restored for workers, state-owned enterprises and right to collective bargaining established and implemented.

Child labour

Angola, Cameroon and **Gabon**: Joint trade union coordinating bodies established in each country, national plans to combat child labour adopted.

Bangladesh, Brazil, Egypt, Ghana, India, Nepal, Paraguay, Peru, Philippines, Sri Lanka and United Republic of Tanzania: Trade union positive impact on the ratification of C.138 and C.182. Introduction of relevant changes in national legislation.

Caribbean: Awareness on child labour issues raised among trade unions operating in the tourism sector.

Indonesia and **Viet Nam:** Focal points and new structures established by trade unions to combat child labour.

Malawi, **Thailand** and **Uganda**: Provision of the child labour Conventions included into collective agreements.

Togo: C.182 translated into two local languages.

Employment

Central and **Eastern Europe**: New advisory services on women in the labour market provided through dissemination of ILO materials, national research papers on macroeconomic policies and trade union approach.

Mongolia: Cooperative Promotion Centre, savings and credit cooperatives in Ulan Bator, Tuva and Selenge provinces established.

Indicator

Target and outcome

Zambia: Trade unions adopted policy on jobs creation and engaged the Government in a dialogue on national employment policy and programme.

Social protection

Arab States: Module on occupational safety and health based on the relevant ILO Conventions introduced in workers' education programme at national level.

Argentina, Brazil, Chile and **Uruguay:** Trade union training programmes on OSH focusing on specific workplace situations were developed and applied.

Brazil, Central and Eastern Europe, Costa Rica, Dominican Republic, Guatemala, Honduras and Republic of Moldova: Plans adopted by agricultural unions to promote C.184. Adoption and integration of ILO code of practice on HIV/AIDS in trade union activities.

Caribbean: Awareness raised among trade unions on OSH and HIV/AIDS in the workplace, particularly in the tourism sector.

Central and **Eastern Europe**: New strategies established by trade unions to influence national policy reforms on OSH, followed by advisory research services. Training materials and a CD-ROM developed.

Czech Republic and **Slovenia**: Public pension schemes revised taking into account trade union inputs.

Latin America: Following research on social security by trade unions, information provided to trade unions on alternative coverage of the informal economy workers.

The former Yugoslav Republic of Macedonia: National framework policy on occupational safety and health adopted.

Namibia: Knowledge about occupational safety and health increased; a trade union policy adopted.

Uganda: Workers' manual on trade union action against HIV/AIDS produced and tested.

Venezuela: National Institute on Training on OSH (INFI) established for trade unions' affiliates.

Social dialogue

Burkina Faso, Central African Republic, Costa Rica, Dominican Republic, El Salvador, Madagascar, Panama, Russian Federation and Senegal: Coordinating bodies set up in each country allowing workers to participate in national tripartite discussions as a united group.

Cambodia: Four national unions appointed to the National Tripartite Labour Advisory Committee (LAC). Strong pressure from the trade union representatives in LAC meeting resulted in the minimum wage being raised.

Chile: A permanent national tripartite mechanism for social dialogue launched.

Estonia: Workers' education programme and policies adopted through audit and advisory services.

Ethiopia, Ghana, Mauritius and **Seychelles**: Adoption of national programmes of action for implementing findings of a study on industrial conflict resolution.

Ethiopia, Russian Federation, Uganda, Uruguay and **Venezuela:** Positive impact of trade unions on national tripartite and bipartite forums dealing with structural reforms and privatization of public enterprises.

icator	

Target and outcome

Latin America: (a) New advisory and research services created within international trade secretariats covering postal services and automobile industry to strengthen agreements with multinational companies. (b) Manual on Collective Bargaining and Code of Conduct for trade unions in Nestlé group of companies published and used as reference for affiliates to International Union of Food, Agricultural, Hotel, Restaurant, Catering, Tobacco and Allied Workers' Associations (IUF) and other industrial unions in the region.

Liberia: Trade union solidarity action group established to strengthen workers' role in national consultative forums.

South Africa, United Republic of Tanzania, Uganda and Zambia: Following a research on good practices adopted by workers' organizations, poverty alleviation strategy adopted by trade unions.

4c.2. Employers' or workers' organizations that take policy or practical initiatives to extend representation of their organizations, for example by establishing links with small enterprises or the informal sector or through enhanced representation of women and migrant workers.

Target: Workers' organizations in 30 countries.

Outcome: Workers' organizations in more than 50 countries.

Africa: Trade union capacity to deal with the World Bank policies

and practices improved among the affiliates of Education International and a number of other international trade secretariats. Specific training guides produced and used.

Algeria, Kuwait, Russian Federation and **Yemen:** New women's committees established in trade unions.

Argentina, Australia, Canada, Finland, Germany, Ireland, Italy, Japan, Latvia, Namibia, Netherlands, Philippines, Spain, Sweden, United Kingdom and United States: Research finding on pay equity agreements in the public services established. Pay equity issues taken up in the bargaining agenda.

Argentina, **Brazil**, **Chile**, **Colombia**, **Mexico**, **Uruguay** and **Venezuela**: Research findings on gender-sensitive issues introduced into collective bargaining.

Bangladesh: Bangladesh National Committee for Women Workers' Development (BNCWWD) set up. Women elected to the executive committees of their respective unions.

Bangladesh, Botswana, Ethiopia, Namibia, Sierra Leone and Zimbabwe: Policy to promote union membership and sign collective agreements in export processing zones, which predominantly employ women and young workers, adopted and implemented

Benin, Burkina Faso, Guinea, Mali, Mexico, Niger, Rwanda and Senegal: Workers' organizations, cooperatives, other incomegenerating associations, mutual health and micro-credit schemes created in the informal economy.

Bolivia, Colombia, Ecuador, Peru and **Venezuela**: New body on women's participation in trade union organizations established.

Botswana, Gambia, Ghana, Liberia, Seychelles and South Africa: Strategic plans to strengthen trade unions' institutional capacity to deal with the issue of informal economy workers adopted.

Burkina Faso, Mali, Nigeria and **Senegal**: Associations catering for certain groups of workers (e.g. vegetable and fish vendors) in the informal economy.

Cape Verde, **Mauritania** and **Senegal**: Plan of action adopted to organize the workers in the informal economy.

Central and **Eastern Europe**: Women workers' network strengthened through dissemination of study materials.

Colombia, **Peru** and **Venezuela**: Strategic plans to strengthen trade unions' institutional capacity adopted.

Indicator	Target and outcome
	Costa Rica, Dominican Republic, El Salvador, Guatemala, Honduras, Nicaragua and Panama: National diagnosis of the situation of trade unions elaborated, leading to discussions on trade union structures in each country. National agreements to strengthen labour movement applied.
	Costa Rica, Dominican Republic, Uruguay and Venezuela: National gender issues programme adopted and implemented in workers' education.
	Egypt, India and Uganda : Women's participation in trade union activities rose from about 5 per cent to 19 per cent due to campaigning to increase women's recruitment.
	Ghana and Malawi : Trade union policy for informal economy workers adopted and implemented helping to set up and operate small independent enterprises.
	Global: International industrial organizations' mainstream gender perspectives strengthened in all their activities.
	Indonesia: Informal economy workers covered by private insurance companies due to arrangements made by trade unions.
	Indonesia, Thailand and Viet Nam: Focal points and new structures established by the trade unions to enhance the status of women results in increased percentage of women in union leadership positions and/or participating in key activities.
	Kuwait and Yemen: New women's committees established.
	Philippines: Amendments of one union's constitution to cater for informal economy workers' associations adopted.
	Russian Federation: Special programme on women workers' issues adopted and integrated into activities, first woman elected as Vice- Chairperson of the Federation.

Strategies, results and lessons learned

104. Three key factors are behind the greater than expected achievement of most targets related to the strength and representation of workers' organizations. First, workers' organizations increasingly used the Declaration and ILO core labour standards in their strategies to address key issues. Second, many workers' organizations have developed the capacity to be more effective and accepted interlocutors with governments and employers' organizations. Third, awareness raising and workers' education activities increasingly focused on ILO standards-related activities and social protection issues (e.g. child labour, forced and obligatory labour, occupational safety and health in agriculture, HIV/AIDS and social security).

benefits to informal workers.

Viet Nam: New associations of workers in the informal economy established. Amendments to labour legislation drafted to extend

More details on the work of the Bureau for Workers' Activities are available at: http://www.ilo.org/public/english/dialogue/actrav/index.htm

105. An important contribution to these results was an increased ILO emphasis on strategic priorities. For example, trade unions received support on strategic planning that was focused on issues such as addressing macroeconomic issues, expanding representation, addressing needs in the informal sector, migrant workers and women workers. Results were also achieved through closer consultation with national, regional and international workers' organizations including those in specific economic sectors.

106. One impact of this work was more collective agreements addressing gender and equality issues. Another was the growing use by trade unions of ILO Conventions and campaigns in their own workplace, social and economic issue strategies.

Improving women's participation in unions and inclusion in society

Since the late 1990s, women workers have made progress in some South-East Asian countries in improving their working conditions, participating in trade union work at all levels and being more included in society. ILO cooperation with the Government of **Belgium** has significantly contributed to this success. National trade unions have established focal points and structures capable of enhancing the status of women and to combat child labour. As a result, in **Thailand** and **Viet Nam** women now occupy 30 per cent of trade union leadership positions. The textile union of **Indonesia** (TSK) held their first women's conference, which put forward a new trade union strategy on gender- and equality-related issues. In **Bangladesh**, women trade union leaders from 11 federations have set up a National Committee on Women Workers' Development and a number of women are now on the executive committees of their unions.

- **107.** The ILO has long supported approaches that build unity among national and regional trade union organizations. Consistent with that, ILO support assisted in the creation of new coordinating mechanisms among trade unions to deal with issues like trade union rights, the social dimensions of economic integration, child labour and gender equality.
- 108. An expanded use of information and communications technologies, databases and networks helped to enhance services to workers' organizations. For example, the web pages of the Bureau for Workers' Activities grew to register more than 100,000 hits per month. In Latin America a new information service on freedom of association and social protection issues was delivered through a specialized web site. In Central and Eastern Europe new advisory services were established on women and labour market issues. In French-speaking Africa trade union assistance programmes for informal sector workers were instituted.
- 109. Unions in all countries are being challenged by the negative impacts of globalization and increasingly precarious employment conditions due to more open trade and investment and changing ways of producing goods and services. Consistent with overall ILO strategies for greater engagement with international financial institutions (IFI), the Bureau held a symposium, "Strengthening Workers' Participation in the UN System and Impact on the Bretton Woods Institutions" in September 2001. This was the first ILO event to bring together representatives of major international trade union organizations to discuss the impacts of IFIs and the World Trade Organization (WTO) on the world of work and strategies to address them. It provided an opportunity to raise issues with IFI and WTO representatives.
- 110. The symposium identified strategies to influence future IFI and WTO decisions. One element of those strategies will be support for stronger ILO and labour roles in shaping the social dimension of globalization, including the world commission that was approved by the Governing Body at its 282nd Session (November 2001). Practical steps to strengthen dialogue between labour and IFIs and the WTO were identified. Other strategic elements would include increased efforts at national action, alliances with like-minded NGOs and a stronger trade union movement. The forum also identified the value of internal capacity-building strategies for trade unions to improve labour influence on social and economic development decisions.
- 111. While the ILO can point to progress towards stronger, more effective and representative workers' organizations over the biennium, challenges persisted. In many countries, basic trade union rights remained restricted. In others, the attitudes of some employers and governments still did not support a full role for trade unions. Workers' organizations also continued to face internal challenges. In some countries, the existence of a large number of

competing trade unions impeded the design of effective programmes. In other countries, inadequate numbers of trained union staff and turnover of those who had been trained also restricted the capacity for sustained action. In response, the support for strategic planning in workers' organizations is expected to help build a stronger capacity for sustained action over time, which should be less affected by turnover.

112. Against a general background of falling technical cooperation delivery rates for the Office, the Bureau for Workers' Activities made some progress but recognized a need to improve the coordination of its own actions. The Bureau began development of a new computer-based system for planning and monitoring all activities, regardless of type or funding source. It began to put an integrated approach on technical cooperation and joint programming between headquarters and the field into place.

Support for stronger employers' organizations

Indicator

4c.1. Employers' or workers' organizations that provide new or improved services to their members or strengthen their capacity to provide such services.

Target and outcome

Target: Employers' organizations in 20 member States. **Outcome:** Employers' organizations in more than 40 member States

Albania, Kazakhstan and **Serbia:** An independent employers' organization established.

Argentina: New informal dispute settlement mechanism instituted.

Argentina: Successful lobbying for legislative reform in occupational safety and health.

Bahamas, China, India (2), Kenya, Mongolia, Thailand and Uganda: Strategic plans to strengthen organizational capacities adopted and being implemented.

Bolivia: New services to improve quality management with a view to enterprises ISO certification.

Cape Verde, Jordan, Kuwait, Lebanon, Qatar and Syrian Arab Republic: Specialized units created to support SMEs.

China, Mauritius and Philippines: New advisory service

implementing cleaner production audits.

Costa Rica: New labour law service.

Croatia: New management training service.

enterprises delivered.

Dominican Republic: New industrial safety service for member enterprises.

Dominican Republic: Training courses on productivity for small

Estonia, **Lithuania**, **Poland** and **Romania**: Referring to resolution by 1995 European Regional Conference governments persuaded to remove fiscal restrictions on financing of employers' organizations.

Fiji: New training service for middle-management personnel.

Guatemala: Labour code reform achieved through bipartite effort.

Indonesia: New training service in negotiating collective agreements.

Malawi, Zambia and **Zimbabwe:** National labour codes reflect employer concerns.

Malaysia: Industrial relations training programme enhanced.

Mali: New information and advisory services.

Mongolia: WISE training programmes to small and medium-sized enterprises introduced.

Morocco: New conflict resolution advisory unit created in employers' organization.

Papua New Guinea: Organization restructured, and lobbying role enhanced.

Indicator	Target and outcome		
	Philippines: New training programme for executive development. Philippines and Thailand: New labour market information service. Senegal: Reform of human resources development strategy in response to employer demands. Seychelles: New training service in quality improvement. Sri Lanka: Training programme on industrial relations in the workplace developed. Thailand: Launch of programmes to improve competitiveness.		
4c.2. Employers' or workers' organizations that take policy or practical initiatives to extend representation of their organizations, for example by establishing links with small enterprises or the informal sector or through enhanced representation of women and migrant workers.	Target: Employers' organizations in 10 member States. Outcome: Employers' organizations in 13 member States. Benin, Burkina Faso and Niger: Strategic framework and specialized services to promote women's participation in the economy. Colombia: Employer-led initiatives help 80 children to stop work and go to school. Colombia, Oman, Syrian Arab Republic and United Arab Emirates: Women's committees established to promote women entrepreneurs. Costa Rica: Scholarships obtained for child workers, and formal sector jobs found for parents. Costa Rica and Senegal: Income-earning activities to help families keep their children in the education system and prevent child labour. Guatemala: Foundation created to combat child labour and provide training to minors. Guatemala: Foundation to support the placement of street children in vocational training. Mongolia: Recommendations on the implementation of legislation and national action plan for the employment of the disabled. West and Central Africa: Action plans on HIV/AIDS. Zimbabwe: Awareness on the issue of child labour, contributed to ratification of C.138.		

Strategies, results and lessons learned

- 113. The targets for employers' activities reflected prevailing but prudent levels of achievement at the time they were set, but two factors helped lead to greater success than forecast. First, there was greater strategic focus in the choice and design of activities, which were developed through dialogue with the employers' organizations concerned. Second, outcomes were more generally linked to the most relevant needs of employers' organizations.
- 114. During the biennium, strategies were built around the need for employers' organizations to provide services that would give more value to their members and improve enterprise performance. This reflected the reality that in the area of direct services, such as advice, training and information, employers' organizations had to continuously improve the relevance and quality of what they offered, often to meet competition from other service providers. With ILO support, several organizations introduced new services or improved existing ones in such areas as training, dispute settlement, quality assurance and negotiation.

More details on the work of the Bureau for Employers' Activities are available at: http://www.ilo.org/public/english/dialogue/actemp/index.htm

- 115. Information is an increasingly valuable commodity, and it was recognized that employers' organizations had significant service opportunities in that area. In several countries the ILO helped to establish the capacity for them to collect and analyse data, and to package it for different uses. This resulted in various information products for employers such as executive remuneration and wage surveys.
- 116. In several cases, ILO support helped employers' organizations to develop strategic plans. Such plans represented the common vision, shared objectives and mutual commitments between the organization's leadership, membership and staff, setting the stage for a more solid institution. The plans also positioned organizations to better benefit from subsequent technical cooperation with the ILO and other agencies.

Building the information base for employers in the Philippines

When the Employers' Confederation of the Philippines (ECOP) decided to invest in a research and information officer at the end of 1999, the ILO supported that decision. ILO assistance included training on how to conduct surveys, how to organize and analyse the data, and how to package the results for different uses. It also involved technical support to the ECOP officials involved. By early 2001, ECOP had launched a major executive salary survey in response to member demand that will be an annual feature. It is likely to lead to the development of information products and services on other subjects where ECOP can establish a strong information position.

- 117. In order to improve their representational services, support was provided to employers' organizations to improve their knowledge of economic and social issues, to improve their skills at communicating with target audiences and to improve internal consultative mechanisms. An increasing number of employers' organizations broadened their agendas to take a keen interest in issues such as child labour and HIV/AIDS. Efforts to encourage the participation of women in the economy, especially in entrepreneurship and other leadership roles in business, also produced results.
- 118. While progress was made and targets met, many challenges were still very clear. Developing employers' organizations involves building the skills and knowledge of their staff, and sometimes of their elected officials. However, the remuneration offered by employers' organizations in the majority of countries is not as high as that offered by enterprises. So, turnover among trained staff and among elected leaders remains a major factor influencing the sustainability of outcomes to date.
- 119. Another challenge was the fundamental work required in many developing countries and countries in transition to build employers' organizations. ILO work in these countries included drawing business community support for employers' organizations, encouraging leadership and adequate staffing and improving the management of existing secretariats. In some cases, especially in countries emerging from situations of conflict, the ILO helped employers to see shared interests and to set up representative organizations for themselves.

Support for stronger labour law and administration

Indicator	Target and outcome
4c.3. ILO member States that ratify the Labour Administration Convention, 1978 (No. 150).	Target: 6 additional member States. Outcome: 6 additional member States. Belize, Benin, Czech Republic, El Salvador, Lesotho and Luxembourg.

Indicator

4c.4. ILO member States that take practical steps to strengthen their labour administration.

Target and outcome

Target: 10 additional member States. **Outcome:** 17 additional member States.

Bahrain: New labour market information system; adoption of a National Programme on Employment and Training for Bahrainis. **Benin:** Definition of priorities, programming of activities, increase of labour inspection visits.

Burkina Faso and **Senegal:** Return of labour inspectors into enterprises.

Chile: Review of administrative procedure and working methods in labour administration.

Costa Rica: Creation of consultative council.

Dominican Republic: New regulations and manuals.

El Salvador, Guatemala, Honduras and Nicaragua: New services provided to users.

Jordan: Restructuring of Ministry of Labour; programming and evaluation system for Ministry adopted.

Morocco: Revival of National Institute for Labour and Social Protection and elaboration and implementation of workplan for training ministry employees.

Peru: Restructuring of ministry according to ILO recommendations. **United Arab Emirates:** Restructuring of Ministry of Labour and Social Affairs; adoption of strategic planning system.

Uruguay: Adopted ILO safety regulations for forestry. Inspectorate monitoring enforcement.

Yemen: New labour market information system unit.

4c.5. Members States that adopt laws, regulations and law enforcement machineries and procedures, with ILO technical assistance based on ILO standards, and with the involvement of the social partners.

Target: 10 additional member States.

Outcome: 19 additional member States and 3 other entities.

Bahamas: Employment Act adopted, May 2001.

Bosnia and Herzegovina: (a) Federation of Bosnia and Herzegovina: New labour amendments to the labour law adopted August 2000; new law on strikes adopted April 2000. (b) Sprska Republic: New labour law adopted November 2000.

Cambodia: Prakas to organize trade union representation and collective bargaining at the enterprise level adopted November 2001.

Chad: Order creating the National Committee for the Follow-up of Social Dialogue.

Comoros: Order No. 59-73 on workers' compensation (occupational diseases) was adopted.

Estonia: Trade Union Act of 16/6/2000 adopted.

Guatemala: Labour Code amended May 2001 for closer conformity with C.87 and C.98.

Indonesia: (a) Trade Union Act adopted. (b) Regulations on major hazard control adopted.

Niger: National Social Dialogue Commission created 2000, and amended in 2001 to include civil society.

Panama: Decree to help ratify C.138.

Peru: Collective labour relations law amended November 2001 for closer conformity with C.87.

Russian Federation: New Labour Code adopted in first reading by the Federation Duma.

South Africa: (a) Employment Equity Act, Act No. 55 of 1998. (b) Code of Conduct on HIV/AIDS at the workplace adopted Government Notice No. 1298 of 1 December 2000. (c) Labour Relations Amendment Bill.

46

Indicator	Target and outcome		
	Sri Lanka: Amendments to Termination of Employment of Women Act.		
	Suriname: Social security system and related legislation revised.		
	Swaziland: Industrial Relations Act of 6 June 2000.		
	Uganda: 4 new labour laws tabled before Parliament. Yugoslavia: New labour law for Serbia passed Parliament December 2001. Zambia: Amendments to Industrial Relations Act. As well as actions in other entities that are not member States:		
	East Timor: Labour Code pending adoption by National Assembly Kosovo: Enacted Essential Labour Law.		
	Territories under the Palestinian Authority: Adoption of a Labour Code.		
4c.6. Member States that base major	Target: 5 additional member States.		
components of their legislation governing the public service on ILO advice.	Outcome: Resources and time in the biennium were devoted to developing the necessary expertise in public service legislation. The preparatory work is now complete and advice is being given to member States.		

Strategies, results and lessons learned

120. Requests from constituents related to strengthening labour law and administration continued to increase in line with the emergence of more democratic systems of government in many regions. Member States have looked to ILO principles and Conventions for guidance on legislative issues and to ILO technical advisory services for support in training labour administrators and other officials. Importantly, labour legislation guidelines were published which provide countries with assistance in designing and drafting labour laws on the ILO's core labour standards using a tripartite approach.

More details on activities related to government, labour law and administration are available at: http://www.ilo.org/public/english/dialogue/govlab/index.htm

- 121. Strategic approaches set priorities for the most effective use of resources. For example, groups of senior officials from Africa were assisted to set priorities at the political level. Deeper assessments of labour administration systems took place to strengthen collaboration where it was most likely to achieve the strongest outcomes. Practical tools, methods and publications were developed to give concrete assistance on administrative and day-to-day processes more efficiently. Collaborative work across ILO sectors facilitated comprehensive responses to the needs of member State labour ministries.
- 122. One area in which results fell short of projections was support for member States on legislation governing employment in the core public service (i.e., not government enterprises, education, health services and utilities). It was determined that this relatively new area of attention required a greater base of information and analysis, which will be used to offer services in the next biennium. However, the integration of labour law and administration issues and public service employment issues in one unit enabled more effective work with member State institutions that are responsible for both the preparation of laws and their supervision and implementation.

Cross-sectoral programmes

Resources for cross-sectoral programmes in 2000-01 (US\$)*

	Regular budget resources 2000-01	Actual regular budget expenditure 2000-01	Estimated expenditure on technical cooperation	Actual extra- budgetary expenditure 2000-01
Turin Centre	5 340 000	5 340 000	n.a.	n.a.
International Institute of Labour Studies	4 931 020	5 227 090	n.a.	n.a.
International Policy Group	1 246 414	1 324 159	n.a.	n.a.
Gender equality	2 026 622	1 974 721	2 374 000	(Available at ILC)
Statistics	6 756 756	6 601 788	n.a.	n.a.
External relations and partnerships	4 515 784	4 541 084	n.a.	n.a.
Communications	5 599 375	5 480 933	n.a.	n.a.

^{*} The resource levels reported in this table contribute to the strategic resources reported under each strategic objective.

- **123.** The Programme and Budget for 2000-01 identified the International Training Centre of the ILO in Turin, the International Institute for Labour Studies, the International Policy Group, the Bureau for Gender Equality, the Bureau of Statistics and Technical Cooperation as cross-sectoral programmes. This reflected the perspective that these programmes had key functions in shaping the ILO agenda, expanding knowledge and building partnerships.
- **124.** Because of the need to integrate activities towards decent work within the Office and with other organizations, the Programme and Budget for 2002-03 designated "External relations and partnerships" and "Communications" with the above as cross-cutting activities.

International Training Centre (Turin Centre)

- 125. During the biennium 2000-01, the International Training Centre of the ILO carried out training activities that reached more than 15,000 participants from over 170 countries. Activities took place on the Turin campus, in the field or through the use of the Internet. Some 40 per cent of the Centre's participants were women. The Centre began cooperation with the International Institute for Labour Studies to develop new training modules specifically constructed to assist constituents and ILO staff in the formulation and implementation of decent work policies.
- **126.** Substantial programme development took place to address identified needs in line with the four strategic objectives of the ILO. For example, the training programme on international labour standards and human rights was strengthened. Another project was started to train trainers and constituents on standards related to freedom of association and to mainstream Declaration issues across the Centre's activities. Approximately 7,000 participants were trained on employment topics. The training programme on social protection reached some 1,100 participants, while activities on employers' activities and social dialogue included the training of about 1,800 people in social dialogue. The Centre also offered cross-sectoral training programmes on management of development and training technology and adopted a mainstreaming approach to gender issues.

- **127.** The Centre continued with its activities to promote ILO staff development. In addition to other ongoing and special sessions, the Centre implemented a four-year training programme for ILO young professionals. This began in 2001 with two workshops on decent work and on the management of technical cooperation.
- **128.** Following the General Assembly's decision to establish the United Nations Staff College as a permanent institution in 2002, the necessary measures were taken to ensure a smooth transition towards the new status. The college and the Centre will continue to share services and experiences in areas of common concern.

International Institute for Labour Studies

- **129.** In the biennium 2000-01, the Institute's programme of work was recast in line with the strategic objectives of the ILO. The objective was to support the ILO in developing the conceptual foundations of decent work policies, and to promote debate and knowledge on the topic among ILO constituents, academic experts and policy-makers.
- 130. The Institute's Research Programme focused on two main sets of issues. The first was the relationship between decent work and economic growth and development. New indicators of fundamental rights at work were constructed and used to start identification of correlations with development, and causal relationships between the four strategic objectives of decent work. Research using these indicators and correlations is expected to contribute to provide a solid and empirically grounded basis to the debate on the economic impact of fundamental rights at work. The second issue concerned the practical implementation of decent work. This involved exploring how social actors and institutions might interact more effectively in the policy process to generate decent work, with an ultimate goal of deepening ILO institutional knowledge of governance mechanisms an indispensable component of policy-making.
- 131. In addition to the many ongoing activities of the Education and Outreach Programme, a conference, "The future of work, employment and social protection" organized in cooperation with the French Ministry of Employment and Solidarity helped attract attention from high-level intellectuals, politicians and the media to the concerns behind decent work. A special effort was also made in 2001 to reach out to labour judges, a key stakeholder in the promotion of decent work. The Institute's International Internship Programme was reoriented to the four strategic objectives and set in the context of both gender and development perspectives. The delivery of the Programme was also updated.
- 132. The Organized Labour in the 21st Century Project was completed in 2001. This helped to identify the main challenges faced by trade unions in all countries, and analyse examples of new and successful experiences. As part of the project, an innovative electronic network consisting of a project web site and an interactive conference facility was created. More than 850 union practitioners and labour specialists from different countries used it to exchange views on the future of the labour movement.

International Policy Group

133. The primary function of the International Policy Group (IPG) during the biennium was to provide technical support to the Working Party on the Social Dimension of Globalization. During this period the Working Party significantly enhanced its standing as a high-level forum for policy dialogue on the social dimensions of globalization within the multilateral system. The Bretton Woods institutions, WTO, United Nations and UNCTAD have collaborated more actively in its work, a high-level panel of heads of agencies was

- organized, and a decision was taken in November 2001 to establish a World Commission on the Social Dimension of Globalization.
- 134. A key to these positive developments was the Working Party decision in March 2000 to strengthen the technical basis of its work. In response, the IPG prepared proposals for a medium-term research programme to expand the knowledge base available to the Working Party. It produced substantive technical papers on: "Organization, bargaining, and dialogue for development in a globalizing world", "Poverty reduction and decent work" and "Trade liberalization and employment". That was complemented when the IPG secured extrabudgetary funding for a four-year research project on globalization, employment and poverty reduction that began in mid-2001.
- support to the Director-General's initiatives in the field of international economic and social policy. A major initiative has been the promotion of an integrated approach to economic and social policies within the multilateral system. In this connection, the IPG organized a technical workshop on the topic in March 2000, prepared a technical paper based on the outcome, and drew on this work to prepare the paper on "Integrated thinking" that the Director-General presented to the April 2001 meeting of the Administrative Committee on Coordination. A second initiative was to promote the concept of decent work as the basis of an integrated approach to international economic and social policies. Support for this was provided through papers on globalization and decent work and through the contribution of IPG staff to ILO collaboration with the World Bank and the IMF in preparing the PRSPs that are described throughout this report.
- **136.** The IPG has also had prime responsibility for monitoring developments in the global economy from the standpoint of their implications for the attainment of the ILO's strategic objectives. This included the preparation of ILO comments on the IMF's biannual *World Economic Outlook*, the Director-General's statements to the International Monetary and Financial Committee and in response to current economic events.

Bureau for Gender Equality

- 137. The Bureau for Gender Equality had two major objectives for 2000-01. The first was enhanced external visibility for the ILO and gender issues. Achievement of this objective included significant involvement in high-profile events such as Beijing +5, Copenhagen +5 and EXPO 2000, through the organization of panels and workshops that made visible the ILO's expertise on gender issues in the world of work. It also involved presenting the ILO's experiences in institutionalizing gender mainstreaming in other venues and issuing publications that have gone into second editions and are being translated into additional languages.
- 138. The second objective was more effective mainstreaming of gender issues in the work of sectors and regions within the Office. Stronger networking and consensus-building among gender specialists, focal points and other staff at headquarters and in the field has helped to further the Office policy on gender equality. The ILO was singled out within the United Nations family by the Inter-Agency Meeting on Gender Equality as having made more systematic efforts in incorporating gender into its programming and budgeting. An example of progress was the development of an integrated workplan for mainstreaming gender equality in the ILO programme and budget at an interregional consultation meeting in Turin in February 2001. Others included the adoption of a policy statement on gender mainstreaming at the African and Latin American Regional Directors' Meeting in 2001 and a policy circular by the Turin Centre.

- **139.** The gender audit that began in 2001 was the first in the United Nations system. Nine units at headquarters and in the field have participated so far in this comprehensive learning through self-assessment experience. Initial findings indicated a high degree of awareness and acceptance of the policy on gender mainstreaming but also conceptual problems and a lack of tools in applying the strategy.
- 140. This was consistent with previous experiences in other areas. For example, gender issues in technical cooperation were identified as an area of special concern. Training sessions for chief technical advisers that took place with the involvement of the InFocus Programme on the Declaration helped to create greater awareness and established linkages to "help desks" at headquarters. Work has been initiated to include gender concerns in the ILO's forthcoming technical cooperation manual.
- **141.** The Bureau entered into a new phase of capacity-building activities for ILO staff based on the findings of an Office-wide needs assessment. The focus is now on developing more tailor-made responses to enhance the competencies of staff at headquarters and in the regions.

Bureau of Statistics

- 142. The Bureau of Statistics continued to support the development of labour statistics by member States, through standard setting, technical cooperation, advisory services and cooperation with other international agencies. Major developmental work was done on consumer price indices, household income and expenditure statistics. The Bureau improved its compilation and dissemination of labour statistics and provided support services to other ILO units. The Bureau's web site and its statistical web site (LABORSTA) received about 5,000 and 3,500 visits per week respectively. The former was expanded to include a Portuguese section and to enable member States to reply electronically to selected questionnaires. The LABORSTA web site was a major milestone in the ILO's dissemination of statistical information. The system has been enhanced so as to make accessible all time series from 1969 onwards as well as the associated methodological information. The *October Inquiry* report was also put on the web site.
- 143. The Bureau provided direct support for specific Office priorities. For example, in collaboration with the relevant sectors, it helped identify methods to make world and regional estimates of the number of children at work. It continued work on the development of methods for statistics on workplace-related HIV/AIDS and on occupational injuries, and it participated in the implementation of the Enterprise Flexibility Survey Programme. The Bureau harmonized national labour statistics and constructed and analysed indicators for five of the eight chapters in KILM 2001. It began work on statistics relevant for describing the quality of employment in relation to the decent work paradigm and developed a conceptual framework for informal employment as part of its contribution to the Director-General's ILC 2002 Report on "Decent work and the informal economy".
- 144. Consistent with the ILO commitment to expand its collaboration with other agencies, the Bureau significantly influenced the development of a European Commission regulation to introduce a compulsory vacancy survey in European Union member countries from 2002. It collaborated closely with the United Nations Statistics Division regarding the treatment of economic characteristics in population and housing censuses, and worked with other United Nations agencies and regional organizations to produce a "Handbook for measurement of the non-observed economy" and a revised version of the ILO manual on consumer price indices.

External relations and partnerships

- 145. A core element of ILO strategy for 2000-01 was to expand its presence and awareness of the Decent Work Agenda in the international community. This was pursued actively in all major global conferences during the biennium. It resulted in an increased reflection of ILO values in global agreements and documents. In particular, the ILO played a strong role in, or in support of, discussions of relevance to its mandate in the Administrative Committee on Coordination, ECOSOC, United Nations General Assembly (UNGA), the United Nations Special Session (UNGASS) on Copenhagen +5, Beijing +5, Millennium Summit, LDC III, UNGASS on HIV/AIDS, and the World Conference against Racism. The ILO was also increasingly involved in the work of organizations with strong trade and economic orientations and of regional bodies. These included the WTO Ministerial Conference, annual and semi-annual meetings of the Bretton Woods institutions, as well as of the OECD, G8, G7, G15, G77, APEC, OAU, and other organizations.
- 146. The Director-General played a high profile role in many of these events. The Governing Body was kept regularly informed and involved in shaping the ILO contributions to such events and often designated a tripartite delegation. To support better information and awareness of international policy developments, the Office used tools such as dedicated web sites. Strengthened policy dialogue with other international organizations focused on promoting decent work at international and national levels. Closer relationships and partnerships with other international organizations has been a major feature of the work of the ILO Working Party on the Social Dimension of Globalization.

Communications

- **147.** The ILO communications strategy focused on the development and implementation of a more comprehensive approach to communications, public information and advocacy. The aim was to increase outreach to the Organization's social partners, NGOs and other platforms of communication in addition to ILO-produced publications and attention to the mass media. It also focused on increased involvement in communications across the Office
- **148.** Examples of more non-traditional approaches to communications included the International Women's Day Conference that was organized to highlight the experience of women achievers. This attracted more than 1,000 people. During the ECOSOC session in Geneva the ILO and Swiss authorities developed a programme to provide information on socio-economic conditions in Africa.
- 149. In addition to traditional media relations tools, special brochures and ongoing publications such as the *World of Work*, efforts were made to gain media coverage of ILO projects, taking advantage of the Director-General's presence in the field. Media visits also were organized to specific technical cooperation programmes. Video feature stories and video news releases complemented press releases and some were shown by high-profile television outlets such as BBC World and CNN World Report. Several video documentaries were also produced to support key ILO programmes including forced labour, decent work in the maritime sector and trafficking of women and children. Increased use was made of the Internet to provide access to ILO information.
- **150.** With more attention being paid to coordinating communications across all sectors of the Office, a new media training function was started to prepare ILO officials for contacts with the media, public lectures as well as other public appearances.

The regions

Resources for regions in 2000-01 (US\$)*

	Regular budget resources 2000-01	Actual regular budget expenditure 2000-01	Estimated expenditure on technical cooperation	Actual extra- budgetary expenditure 2000-01
Africa	40 073 294	38 093 618	86 897 000	(Available at ILC)
The Americas	36 680 263	34 135 365	25 719 200	(Available at ILC)
Arab States	8 129 430	8 471 963	8 296 400	(Available at ILC)
Asia and the Pacific	37 960 606	33 389 954	49 992 000	(Available at ILC)
Europe and Central Asia	12 380 652	12 658 395	13 606 600	(Available at ILC)
Interregional	n.a.	n.a.	33 488 800	(Available at ILC)
Development cooperation	3 057 272	2 956 354	n.a.	n.a.

^{*} The resource levels reported in this table contribute to the strategic resources reported under each strategic objective.

- **151.** This section summarizes major priorities and some milestones for each region during the biennium. It attempts to avoid overlap with the commentaries under each of the strategic objectives, while recognizing that most key outcomes of ILO work are reflected in impacts in the field. It also recognizes that each region often used integrated strategies that were aimed at the achievement of multiple strategic objectives, as well as strategies aimed at more narrowly defined outcomes.
- **152.** During the biennium, measures such as the creation of decent work teams tested new ways to integrate ILO responses to regional needs, in line with stated priorities. Many initiatives involved work in a number of countries towards a consistent goal.
- **153.** As part of the ongoing evolution of strategic planning and budgeting in the ILO, regional planning and reporting will be reviewed in 2002.

Africa

- 154. In the context of the current process of strategic rethinking of the future of the African continent's place in the world economy, the 37th Ordinary Session of the Heads of State and Government of the OAU adopted the New African Initiative in Zambia, July 2001. The Initiative stresses the urgent need to eradicate poverty in Africa. The ILO was mandated by the Heads of State and Government to organize jointly with the OAU a Ministerial Meeting on the theme of "Employment and Poverty Reduction in Africa" in April 2002. The plan for a Ministerial Meeting focusing specifically on employment and poverty reduction was prompted by a desire to enrich and consolidate the New African Initiative.
- 155. The Meeting will be organized under the umbrella of the Jobs for Africa programme and will build on its work in 2000-01. The programme was operational in 17 countries during the biennium and contributed to a growing employment policy priority in national budgets, covering all ILO employment promotion programmes and building on the progressive mainstreaming of gender equality in the region. Strong ILO involvement in the elaboration of individual national PRSPs also led to more coherent global employment policies. Consistent with the growing use of integrated programming, skill development,

- employment investment and enterprise development, priorities were the focus of combined initiatives. Many ILO post-conflict and other crisis responses also drew on integrated strategies.
- **156.** HIV/AIDS had been integrated into sectoral ILO policies and programmes in Africa before, but the ILO became a major partner in the fight against HIV/AIDS in Africa during 2000-01. The extent of the crisis led to more projects and the integration of HIV/AIDS components into broader ILO strategies and preparation for initiatives in 2002-03, especially in southern and East Africa.
- **157.** In addition to support for ratification of the Worst Forms of Child Labour Convention, 1999 (No. 182), substantial work took place to initiate national programmes and to extend knowledge through SIMPOC studies. Four subregional programmes were launched or are in preparation addressing issues such as trafficking in women and children in western and central Africa.
- **158.** ILO activities during the biennium were targeted towards the tripartite partners. In addition to specific activities for employers, workers and governments, the ILO focused on activities aimed at strengthening social dialogue and tripartite consultations with all partners in the development and implementation of socio-economic policies. In most countries tripartite consultations now take place on a regular basis.
- 159. The ILO's role in Africa during the biennium was routinely focused on integrated approaches to decent work priorities. Opportunities to shape an African decent work agenda and national and subregional agendas have been discussed at national, subregional and regional levels. It is expected that the decent work pilot projects in Ghana and Morocco will help to test and demonstrate effective strategies. At the subregional level, the ILO has signed Memorandums of Understanding with the Southern African Development Community and the East African Community, as a means to strengthen subregional institutions and mainstreaming decent work priorities in their activities.

The Americas

- 160. Declining economic growth for the region's major trading partners combined with internal economic challenges in some countries translated into an increasingly difficult employment scenario for Latin America and the Caribbean by the end of the biennium. This, along with major trends across the region, such as increasing momentum for regional economic integration, influenced the needs of constituents and guided many of the ILO's strategies in the region.
- 161. The ILO role in promoting decent work as a goal of regional integration initiatives was demonstrated in many ways. For example, the Office supported work by the Interamerican Conference of Ministers of Labour to promote the fundamental principles and rights at work as well as Conventions on other topics in the economic integration processes taking place throughout the region. Ratification of ILO Conventions and the consequent adaptation of national legislation has gained momentum in the region. The enhancement and support of social dialogue continues to be a regional priority, expressed in a large number of activities targeted at subregional and country level Central America, the Caribbean, Colombia, Peru and in economic integration areas especially MERCOSUR. Following up on the conclusions of the Fourteenth American Regional Meeting in 1999, work took place across the region to strengthen social partners and social dialogue institutions. The ongoing goal of this work has been to ensure that these groups are more knowledgeable and better positioned to articulate and act on the needs of constituents in an

- era of major political and economic changes. This was also the focus of specific actions in countries such as Peru, Bolivia and throughout the Caribbean and Central America.
- 162. The growth of more and better jobs continued to be a regional priority. This included attention to the needs of the unemployed and people in informal employment as well as gender mainstreaming. In addition to regional research and publications designed to support legislative, policy and practical action, skill development gained increased attention. CINTERFOR and ILO teams and offices worked closely with member States and institutions to address local, national and sectoral training priorities, including the development of stronger training institutions in countries such as Costa Rica, the Dominican Republic, El Salvador and Guatemala. The biennium saw much increased interest in skills development by trade unions and employers' organizations, often in response to pressures for increased productivity and improved worker capacities. The work on More and Better Jobs for Women which began in Mexico was one of many initiatives that addressed the specific interests of the growing number of women in the labour market and their concerns related to poverty and social protection.
- 163. The region experienced large-scale growth in activities to combat the worst forms of child labour. In addition to numerous ratifications of Conventions, and support for general action at the national and subregional level, specific attention was paid to child labour in small-scale mining, domestic work and to sexual exploitation issues. In addition, the Office embarked on a specific technical cooperation programme with partners in Colombia to address a wide range of issues that had been raised through the standards process.

Arab States

- **164.** While work took place in pursuit of all four strategic objectives, priorities in the Arab States during the biennium reflected the particular importance of two goals. The first was the need for substantial growth in employment creation in countries that often have high rates of unemployment and underemployment. The second was the growing attention to standards, especially ratification of the fundamental Conventions and their effective implementation.
- 165. Much of the employment creation agenda in the region addressed crisis and post-crisis situations. This included implementation of a Palestinian Emergency Programme with components on vocational training, socio-economic rehabilitation and capacity building as well as a series of projects in southern Lebanon. Also noteworthy is that at the policy level, a Comprehensive Employment Policy Review was carried out in Yemen for the first time in the region. This exercise is expected to provide a comprehensive policy framework for promoting decent work in Yemen. Enterprise promotion initiatives responded to increasing interest in the potential of small enterprise for employment generation. In addition to small enterprise projects in Jordan, needs assessment missions took place in Bahrain, Qatar, Yemen and territories under the Palestinian Authority. Another distinct focus of employment creation was oriented to meeting the needs of people with disabilities. This included adoption of community-based rehabilitation strategies in Iraq, Jordan and the Syrian Arab Republic.
- **166.** Promotion of fundamental principles and rights at work gained momentum, particularly in the Gulf Cooperation Council States. ILO support through contacts, training programmes, studies and technical advisory services improved the state of standards reporting in the region. Gender concerns received particular attention in these and other standards-related activities. This included ensuring the participation of women in training on standards and the promotion and advocacy of women workers' rights.

- **167.** Social dialogue was used as a means of action throughout ILO activities in the Arab States. The Regional Seminar on the Promotion of Tripartite Consultation and Social Dialogue in the Arab Countries in Beirut in October 2000 helped to increase awareness of the role that social dialogue can play in formulating national and regional socio-economic policies. It was complemented by the growing effectiveness of bipartite activities at the national level.
- **168.** Work on social protection related to migrant workers included a comprehensive study in Kuwait on possible improvements in the current system for recruitment of migrant workers. Pilot studies on female migrant workers in Bahrain and Lebanon provided a basis for policy recommendations for improving their working conditions.

Asia and the Pacific

- 169. The Thirteenth Asian Regional Meeting in August 2001 represented an important step in ensuring the alignment of the work of the ILO in the region with the priorities of governments, employers and workers. The Meeting featured an analysis of the decent work deficit in the region and helped to identify priorities for ILO action. The Meeting emphasized the centrality of employment as an overriding concern in the region along with the need to integrate social concerns into economic planning when addressing poverty reduction and job growth. Social protection represents the biggest decent work deficit in the Asia Pacific region. These gaps need to be urgently addressed along with wider recognition for workers' rights and effective social dialogue in both of which wide differences exist in the region if decent work is to be realized in Asia and the Pacific.
- 170. ILO activities in the region often related to specific country-level priorities and opportunities. For example, the Philippines launched the first National Action Programme for Decent Work in December 2001. Since the informal economy grew in many countries as the formal economy stagnated after the economic slowdown, ILO activities in South Asia and in countries in other parts of the region, such as Papua New Guinea, addressed the need to improve jobs. The informal economy was equally a focus for child labour programmes, especially in South Asia. The worst forms of child labour, such as trafficking for commercial sexual exploitation of women and children, were given priority attention in South-East and South Asia. South Asia was also a focal point for longer term efforts to reconcile the need for adequate labour protection with labour market flexibility. Additionally, technical assistance was given to East Timor, where activities to promote employment during the post-crisis period focused on improving labour administration and relations, and the informal economy potential contribution to job creation.
- 171. Other responses to the employment situation included support for industry-based competency standards in many countries across the region and strategies to meet the needs of people with disabilities in Cambodia and the Lao People's Democratic Republic. Entrepreneurship development was another response to the need for more job creation in countries as diverse as Sri Lanka and Viet Nam.
- 172. The Asian financial crisis demonstrated the weakness of social protection systems and the need for improvements. The approaches used to assist countries to broaden and extend coverage were tailored to specific situations. For example, programming in South Asia encouraged the development of grass-roots initiatives as well as the expansion of formal coverage. Technical advice and analysis was provided to countries including China, where an ILO Preparatory Assistance Project was initiated to review key areas of social protection reform and which in turn became an element of a broader Memorandum of Understanding, envisaged as the basis for a national plan of action for decent work.

- 173. Assistance with development of national plans of action for HIV/AIDS prevention at the workplace, based upon the ILO code of practice and a wide range of safety and health related actions represented other important aspects of social protection strategies across Asia and the Pacific. The introduction of occupational safety and health management systems in the region, and the WISE programme in China, Indonesia, Lao People's Democratic Republic, Mongolia, Philippines, Thailand and Viet Nam were aimed at enhancing safety and health and working conditions especially at enterprise level.
- 174. Many of the strategies used in the region provided opportunities to strengthen institutions of social dialogue or to develop institutions for bilateral dialogue and action, especially in South and South-East Asia. For example, in India, enterprise-level bipartite bodies have been established in such industrial cities as Bangalore and Delhi and establishment of a People's Labour Court in the Punjab has significantly led to more rapid solution of many long-standing cases. A wide range of efforts took place in support of stronger employers' and workers' organizations, to enable them to provide improved services to their memberships, extend their coverage and to influence economic and social policies.
- 175. In several of these interventions in the region, the gender dimension has been increasingly integrated both at policy and local programme levels. Activities in Indonesia, Nepal and Thailand, for instance, have initiated a process to reflect the recognition of rights and economic empowerment on a gender-equality basis, in national planning and in job-creation programmes.
- 176. An innovative effort aimed at integrating core labour standards with financial investment policies was started with the Asian Development Bank in Bangladesh, Nepal, Philippines and Thailand. This initiative, and collaboration with the World Bank's Poverty Reduction Strategy Papers (PRSPs) process in Nepal, Pakistan and more recently in Cambodia, will bring decent work clearly into the development agenda of countries in the region.

Europe and Central Asia

- 177. The Sixth European Regional Meeting in December 2000 included a discussion of major trends affecting the Decent Work Agenda in an extremely diverse region. The conclusions of the Meeting identified specific priorities related to each of the four strategic objectives. The Meeting paid particular attention to the impact of information and communication technology on society, and the kinds of policies intended to ensure that the benefits of new technologies would be widely shared, while negative impacts would be addressed.
- 178. ILO responses to the pressing employment priorities of transition economies often took place through integrated programming to reach many operational objectives. The elaboration of a social protection policy in Kazakhstan is a good example. The fundamental base of research and analysis of key employment issues, including assistance with labour market information and surveys helped to define effective policies in many States. This often led to larger initiatives that combined efforts to build employment skills, enterprise development and employment-intensive investment.
- **179.** Because women have borne a disproportionate share of the burden of change in many transition economies, gender equality was an important focus for work in the region during the biennium. For example, the ILO offices in Moscow and Budapest launched a capacity-building programme on gender, poverty and employment.
- **180.** Occupational safety and health was a continuing regional priority. While activities reflected national, sectoral and workplace priorities, support for the stronger enforcement of standards, including roles for employers and workers, was a consistent emphasis. Others

- assisted in building more effective labour inspection services. Many of these efforts took place in the ten transition countries that are seeking accession to the European Union and that recognize the importance of addressing substantive concerns about labour issues.
- 181. The continuing weakness of social security systems in transition economies was a distinct priority. In a number of countries, studies of pension issues in specific member States were developed as a first step to social dialogue on sound reform proposals. The second component of the project was support for training, conferences and meetings to expand awareness of issues. The ILO worked with several member States in the region that sought support for developing social dialogue, especially at the national and the sectoral level. Because formal institutions often already existed, the immediate focus was on support for new legislation and on seminars to explore how best to achieve stronger institutions.
- **182.** Specific emphasis was given to the Stability Pact process in south-eastern Europe and to assist European Union Accession Countries in attaining their "acquis communautaire", including through labour law reform.

Development cooperation

- **183.** The Development Cooperation Department had two major objectives during the biennium, the first of which was that its servicing and reporting of technical cooperation would be effective. The second objective was that Office-wide services in support of the delivery of technical cooperation would be enhanced.
- **184.** A series of activities took place in regard to the first objective. In order to keep staff regularly informed of developments and requirements, guidelines on donor profiles for project procedures were posted on the CODEV Intranet site, and these will be regularly updated. In addition, by the second half of 2001, reports of all review meetings with major donors were posted on the Intranet site within a month of the meeting. More than 80 per cent of the more than 1,200 progress reports to donors during the biennium were submitted on time. Delays were due to capacity problems in technical units or to complex reporting requirements. Those problems will be addressed through the introduction of standard reporting formats based on agreements with donors.
- 185. The second objective was to improve the delivery of technical cooperation. The department ensured that the interval between a request for budget re-phasing and the processing of the request did not exceed seven days, with the average interval being one to three days. In addition, work has commenced on a manual on technical cooperation. A significant development has been the establishment of the delivery task force. It has started to provide semi-annual reports to senior management with recommendations for action to improve delivery. In addition monthly reports on the financial implementation of technical cooperation projects have now been made available on the Intranet. Training sessions on delivery issues have been carried out in Africa, Asia and Latin America.
- **186.** A review of recent trends in technical cooperation, and the ILO's activities in resource mobilization and relations with partners in development cooperation, is being discussed during the present session of the Governing Body in the Committee on Technical Cooperation. A more complete review of progress to date is included there. ⁶

⁶ GB.283/TC/1, "Mid-term review on technical cooperation".

Governance, support and management

Resources for governance, support and management in 2000-01 (US\$)

	Regular budget resources 2000-01	Actual regular budget expenditure 2000-01
Policy-making organs	60 896 671	57 548 254
Management services	37 694 149	37 670 229
Support services*	55 565 895	55 230 781

^{*} The resource levels reported in this table contribute to the strategic resources reported under each strategic objective.

- **187.** At its 279th Session (November 2000), the Governing Body approved performance indicators and targets for 2000-01. ⁷ A new Strategic Objective No. 5 "The management and support services needed for the ILO to achieve Strategic Objectives 1 to 4 are delivered in an efficient and effective manner" was incorporated into the strategic planning framework as part of the approved performance indicators and targets.
- 188. However, in the discussions of the Programme, Financial and Administrative Committee of the Governing Body on the Programme and Budget for the 2000-01 biennium and its discussion of the report on programme implementation in 2000, ⁸ a consensus emerged that ILO indicators should relate to the Office's most significant outcomes and that, while important, the priorities attached to governance, support and management services did not require the degree of detailed analysis associated with the four major strategic objectives. In addition, experience with attempting to track progress towards indicators revealed methodological problems that detracted from the reliability and potential credibility of some data on target achievement. It was therefore decided not to proceed with reporting for governance, support and management services through detailed indicators and targets.
- **189.** The Office expects to consider alternate means of identifying and reporting on objectives for these functions. It looks to the Governing Body for guidance on the types of information that would enable an effective analysis of governance, support and management priorities and outcomes. Any subsequent changes in reporting would take place in collaboration with all affected programmes.
- **190.** The structure of this section and the allocation of programmes and units within the Office to the specific subsections on governance, support and management services is broadly consistent with the allocation made in the Programme and Budget for 2000-01. The exceptions are that "External relations and partnerships" and "Communications" are now identified as cross-cutting activities for this implementation report, consistent with the decision to treat them as such in the 2002-03 programme and budget.

Governance/policy-making organs

191. Findings from a 2000 review of the production of International Labour Conference and Governing Body documents led to work to develop practical management systems with appropriate IT support in 2001 in the *Relations and Meetings Department*. A reorganization of document production began, including a pilot project for improved

⁷ GB.279/PFA/7.

⁸ GB.280/11/1.

workflow through structural rationalization. A planning and coordination unit was established. A framework of service-level agreements between user and production units is in development and a package of management tools that would include work tracking and document management systems is being considered.

Management services

- **192.** The *Human Resource Development Department* made substantial progress in implementing a new human resources policy. The goals of the policy are to enhance the knowledge and skills of the staff, improve recruitment and selection, improve staff-management consultations and put in place a new grievance resolution system. The Committee has been kept informed of developments in this process through a separate reporting stream. ⁹ That reporting has described progress on issues relating to: collective bargaining, grading, harassment-related grievances, grievance handling; resourcing; development appraisal; the Young Professional Career Entrance Programme; contract policy reform; work-life initiatives; and performance and reward management.
- 193. The *Financial Services Department* identified a series of targets for 2000-01, with those under the control of the department being generally met. Improvements in processing times for key financial processes were a priority during the biennium with the implementation of an automated system for processing claims, improving payment cycle time and avoiding duplication. Further decentralization of approval authority for low- to mid-sized technical cooperation budgets and the deployment of automated tools at headquarters should improve this level of achievement in 2002-03.
- **194.** The major priority of the *Bureau of Programming and Management* was deeper application of strategic budgeting, which is described at the beginning of this report.

Support services

- **195.** In response to growing demands on the Office's information technology (IT) infrastructure, the *Bureau of Information Technology and Communications* carried out a major network upgrade. This will help to meet the requirements of users with the operations of servers and network components. The average completion time of calls for Help Desk support was 9.6 hours in the year ending August 2001 with a trend during the latter part of that period (June to August 2001) to faster completion times (5.2 hours).
- **196.** The key service targets for the *Bureau of Internal Administration* were met. Steps were taken that are expected to shorten processing times for travel authorizations in 2002 through reorganization and process simplification. Further reductions are expected in costs of telephone services due to new supplier selection processes and system upgrades.
- **197.** The 2000-01 biennium amply demonstrated the extent to which the *Bureau of Publications*' own performance is closely tied to the timely delivery of quality manuscripts. Experience has now shown that a target editorial and production time of six months is only possible if the manuscript is of short to medium length, the final draft is of good quality and queries to authors are answered promptly. The number of titles selling over 200 copies in 2000 stood at 54 (compared to an annual target of 70), while the number of titles selling over 200 copies in 2001 is 64. E-commerce sales in the second full

⁹ GB.282/PFA/10.

year of operation increased by 33 per cent over the first full year while, for the same period, the number of customers who purchased online increased by 38 per cent. Although significant, these are slower growth rates than originally targeted. While the original target for the English, French and Spanish editions of the *International Labour Review* was for total subscriptions to increase by 10 per cent, they declined slightly at a time when major journals were experiencing more significant declines.

198. The *Bureau of Library and Information Services* met its service targets. Consistent with the trend to greater automation of services, references in LABORDOC provide direct access to the documents in electronic formats. The Bureau introduced Internet searching and information access courses to expand awareness of information specialists and other stakeholders of available tools. It launched an information consultancy service to aid clients in finding coherent and efficient ways to manage information and knowledge. In addition, it developed a virtual library system which facilitates access to Web-based information from ILO and non-ILO sources.

Appendices

The following appendices are currently in preparation and will be included in the version of this report to be submitted to the International Labour Conference at its 90th Session:

- I. Action taken on resolutions adopted by the International Labour Conference;
- II. Expenditure on technical cooperation programmes;
- III. Expenditure on technical cooperation by field of activity and source of funds;
- IV. Expenditure on technical cooperation by country and area and by source of funds;
- V. Meetings held in the biennium;
- VI. New priced publications issued in the biennium;
- VII. States Members of the ILO.